Sucrose Cleavage Pathways in Aspen Wood

Umut Rende

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2016 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2016:110

Cover: A model of sucrose hydrolysis and UDP-Glucose formation for cellulose biosynthesis in hybrid aspen wood. (photo: *PhD* Kemal Avican, kavican@gmail.com)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8723-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8724-1 © 2016 Umut Rende, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia, Umeå 2016

Sucrose Cleavage Pathways in Aspen Wood

Abstract

Cellulose is the main component of wood and one of the most important renewable raw materials. In several tree species including *Populus* species, carbon for cellulose biosynthesis is derived from the disaccharide sucrose. This thesis describes experimental work on the mechanism of sucrose cleavage in developing wood and subsequent production of UDP-glucose (UDP-Glc) for cellulose biosynthesis.

Sucrose synthase (SUS) has been proposed previously to interact directly with cellulose synthase complexes (CSC) and specifically supply UDP-Glc for cellulose biosynthesis. To investigate the role of SUS in wood biosynthesis, transgenic lines of hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* L. *x tremuloides* Michx.) with strongly reduced soluble SUS activity in developing wood were characterized. The reduction of soluble SUS activity to few percentage of wild type increased soluble sugar content but decreased wood density and consequently reduced the lignin, hemicellulose and cellulose content per volume of wood. The results demonstrate that SUS has an important role in carbon flux from sucrose to all wood polymers but has no specific role in supplying UDP-Glc to cellulose synthesis machinery.

I also investigated the role of cytosolic neutral/alkaline invertases (cNINs) during cellulose biosynthesis in hybrid aspen by analysing transgenic lines where NIN activity was decreased during secondary cell wall formation. The decrease in NINs activity caused a reduction in UDP-Glc and consequently reduced crystalline cellulose content but increased amorphous cellulose in cellulose microfibrils of wood. The results in this study demonstrated that cNIN activity is a major rate-controlling step in the cellulose biosynthesis.

There is a lack of global analytical methods to measure sugar phosphates linked to cell wall polymer biosynthesis. To address this problem, I worked with the UPSC metabolomics facility to develop a robust method based on chloroform/methanol extraction, two-step derivatization and detection using reverse phase liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (RP-LC-MS) without adding ion-pairing reagent. The method could quantitatively identify 18 sugar phosphates including UDP-Glc and structural isomers in *Populus* leaf and wood extracts. The method can now be used to gain deeper understanding into wood metabolism and cell wall biosynthesis.

Keywords: Cellulose, sucrose synthase, invertase, cellulose synthase complex, UDP-glucose, UHPLC-MS/MS.

Author's address: Umut Rende, SLU, Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, SE-90183, Umeå, Sweden *E-mail:* Umut.Rende@slu.se

Dedication

To my beloved Hazal and my family

The true guide in life is science. Mustafa Kemal Ataturk

Contents

List of Publications			
Abl	previations	9	
1	Introduction	11	
1.1	Wood and wood formation	11	
1.2	Carbon assimilation, sucrose formation and transport	12	
1.3	Sucrose hydrolysis mechanism in wood	14	
	1.3.1 Sucrose Synthase (SUS)	14	
	1.3.2 Invertases (INV)	17	
1.4	Biosynthesis of cell wall components in developing wood	22	
	1.4.1 Cellulose biosynthases	24	
	1.4.2 Hemicellulose biosynthases	25	
	1.4.3 Lignin biosynthesis	26	
1.5	Analysis of metabolites by LC-MS	26	
2	Objectives	29	
3	Material and Methods	31	
3.1	Model organism	31	
3.2	Study approach to investigate SUSs and INVs	31	
3.3	Analysis of metabolites by LC-MS	32	
4	Results and Discussion		
4.1	Deficient sucrose synthase activity in developing wood does not		
	specifically affect cellulose biosynthesis, but causes an overall		
	decrease in cell wall polymers (paper I)	35	
4.2	Cellulose biosynthesis in wood relies on cytosolic invertase		
	activity (paper II)	37	
4.3	Determination of sugar phosphates in plants using combined		
	reversed phase chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry		
	(paper III)	41	
5	Conclusion and Future Perspective	45	
6	References	47	
7	Acknowledgements	59	

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Lorenz Gerber, Bo Zhang, Melissa Roach, Umut Rende, Andras Gorzsas, Manoj Kumar, Ingo Burgert, Totte Niittylä and Bjorn Sundberg (2014).
 Deficient sucrose synthase activity in developing wood does not specifically affect cellulose biosynthesis, but causes an overall decrease in cell wall polymers. *New Phytologist*, 203:1220-1230.
- II Umut Rende, Wei Wang, Madhavi Latha Gandla, Leif J. Jönsson and Totte Niittylä (2016). Cellulose biosynthesis in wood relies on cytosolic invertase activity. *New Phytologist, in press.*
- III Umut Rende, Totte Niittylä and Thomas Moritz (2016). Determination of sugar phosphates in plants using combined reversed phase chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry. *Manuscript*.

7

Papers I is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Umut Rende to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planning, designing and performing SUS enzyme activity measurement experiments, and writing and formatting the manuscript
- II Planning, performance of the work, analysis and summary of the results, writing and preparation of the manuscript
- III Planning, performance of the work, analysis and summary of the results, writing and preparation of the manuscript

Abbreviations

3-PGA	3-phosphoglycerate
2-PGA	2-phosphoglyceric acid
Ara	arabinose
AEC	anion exchange chromatography
CesA	cellulose
CMF	cellulose microfibril
CSC	cellulose synthase complex
CSL	cellulose synthase like
CWIN	cell wall invertase
DHAP	di-hydroxy-acetone phosphate
ESI	electro-spray ionization
EST	expressed sequence tag
FRK	fructokinase
Fru	fructose
Fru-6-P or F6P	fructose-6-P
Fru-1,6-P or FBP	fructose-1,6-bisphosphate
Fru-1,6-Pase	fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase
Gal	galactose
Gal1P	galactose-1-P
GalA	galacturonic acid
GAP	3-phosphoglyceraldehyde
GDP	guanine-di-phosphate
GFP	green fluorescence protein
Glc	glucose
Glc-6-P or G6P	glucose-6-phosphate
Glc-1-P or G1P	glucose-1-P
GlcA	glucuronic acid
GT43B	glycosyl transferase 43B

HXK	hexokinase		
INV	invertase		
IPC	ion-pairing chromatography		
RP-LC-MS	reverse phase-liquid chromatography- mass		
	spectrometry		
Man	mannose		
Man-6-P or Man6P	mannose-6-phosphate		
MRM	multiple reaction monitoring		
mtHXK	mitochondrial hexokinase		
NDP	nucleotide-di-phosphate		
NIN	neutral/alkaline invertase		
cNIN	cytosolic neutral/alkaline invertase		
PGI	phospho-gluco-isomerase		
PGM	phospho-gluco-mutase		
QqQ	triple quadrupole		
R5P	ribose-5-P		
Ru5BP	ribulose-1,5-PP		
Ru5P	ribulose-5-P		
Rubisco	ribulose-1,5 bisphosphate carboxylase-oxyganase		
Sedu7P	seduheptulose-7-P		
SPS	sucrose phosphate synthase		
Suc	sucrose		
Suc-6-P or S6P	sucrose-6-P		
Sugar-P	sugar phosphate		
SUS	sucrose synthase		
Tre-6-P or T6P	trehalose-6-P		
UDP	uridine-di-phosphate		
UDP-Glc or UDP-G	UDP-glucose		
UGD	UDP-glucose dehydrogenease		
UGE	UDP-glucose-4-epimerase		
UGPase	UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase		
UHPLC	ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography		
UXS	UDP-xylose synthase		
VIN	vacuolar invertase		
Xyl	xylose		
X5P	xylulose-5-P		
YFP	yellow fluorescence protein		

1 Introduction

1.1 Wood and wood formation

An estimated 15 % of the total atmospheric carbon passes through land plants every year, creating the largest annual carbon flux on the planet (Solomon *et al.*, 2007). From this carbon flux, approximately 45% of carbon is stored in forest plants. Majority of this carbon accumulation occurs in non-photosynthetic plant cells. Wood as a non-photosynthetic tissue is one of the most abundant biomass on earth and is counted as the main carbon storage in terrestrial environment (Bonan, 2008).

For centuries, humans have used wood as a raw material for many purposes; construction, tools, as an energy source and more recently in pulp and paper industry. Nowadays wood is of significant interest as a sustainable raw material for new wood derived materials such as bioplastic, textile, vanillin or soap; and renewable fuels (Nieminen *et al.*, 2012; Plomion *et al.*, 2001)

Wood provides mechanical support necessary to hold the plant upright as well as the structure for the transportation of water and minerals from root to other parts of the plant. Wood is generated through the activity of the vascular cambium which contains vascular stem cells (Dejardin *et al.*, 2010). Wood formation is commonly divided into four developmental steps: cell division, cell expansion, secondary cell wall deposition and maturation (Fig. 1) (Mellerowicz *et al.*, 2001). Angiosperm wood contains mainly three different types of cells in wood: ray cells, vessels and fibres. These cells possess varied structural and functional duties. Ray cells are living parenchyma cells and provide a radial transport route between phloem and wood. Vessels or vessel

elements are specialized water conducting cells. They are dead hollow tube like cells and form secondary cell wall to strengthen the cell wall. Fibres are long fusiform cells with typically thicker secondary cell walls compared to vessel cells and provide mechanical support to tree (Plomion *et al.*, 2001).



Fig. 1 Overview of the wood developmental stages (cambial division, cell expansion, secondary cell wall formation, cell death and maturation) and wood cell types (Ray parenchyma, vessel and fiber cells) (The image was kindly donated by UPSC Bioinformatics Facility)

Majority of the woody biomass resides in the secondary cell walls of wood fibers. The main components of secondary cell walls are cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Deposition of these components relies on imported carbon into the developing wood fibers. In most plants, carbon source for secondary cell wall formation is sucrose which is exported from photosynthetic tissues, then transported through phloem and finally incorporated into developing wood (Turgeon, 1996).

In the following sections, I will introduce how sucrose is formed in the photosynthetic source tissues and transported to developing wood cells and then I will focus on sucrose hydrolysis and cell wall formation.

1.2 Carbon assimilation, sucrose formation and transport

Carbon is fixed by photosynthesis through a sequence of enzymatic reactions where light and CO_2 are used to synthesize sugars in chloroplasts of photosynthetic cells (Calvin & Benson, 1949). The non-photosynthetic tissues rely on the photosynthesis derived sugars for energy and biosynthesis. In several tree species, including *Populus* sp., the assimilated carbon from photosynthesis is delivered in the form of sucrose (Suc) to developing wood (Turgeon, 1996). Suc is a non-reducing disaccharide composed of glucose (Glc) and fructose (Fru) that are linked by glycosidic linkage between C₁ of Glc subunit and C₂ of Fru subunit (Fig. 2).





Fig. 2 The structure of sucrose which consists of one molecule of glucose and one molecule of fructose linked by an α -1,2 glycosidic linkage.

Precursors of Suc biosynthesis are formed through the Calvin cycle in chloroplast. Ribulose-1,5 bisphosphate carboxylase-oxygenase (Rubisco) carboxylates ribulose-1,5 bisphosphate to generate two molecules of 3-phosphoglycerate (3-PGA) (Miziorko & Lorimer, 1983). 3-PGA is then reduced to triose phosphates (TPs) and transported to cytosol through the TP translocator (Weber *et al.*, 2005). TPs are then converted to fructose 1,6 bisphosphate (Fru-1,6-P) by Fru-1,6-P aldolase. Through enzymatic reactions by Fru-1,6-Pase, hexose phosphate isomerase and phosphoglucomutase (PGI) respectively, Fru-1,6-P is converted to glucose 1-P (Glc-1-P) in the cytosol. Following this, UDP-glucose (UDP-Glc) is formed from Glc-1-P by UDP-Glc pyrophosporylase (UGPase). Suc-6-P synthase (SPS) produces Suc-P using one molecule of both UDP-Glc and Fru-6-P. Finally, Suc is formed by sucrose phosphate phosphatase which removes the phosphate from Suc-P.

In most investigated tree species, sucrose formed in the source tissue, which are carbohydrate exporters, is loaded into phloem passively (Rennie & Turgeon, 2009). The strongest evidence for *Populus* as a passive phloem loader was provided by Zhang *et al.*, (2014). In this study, the cell wall targeted yeast invertase, which cleaves apoplasmic sucrose to glucose and fructose, was expressed under 35S promoter or the minor vein specific *GALACTINOL SYNTHASE* promoter in grey poplar (*Populus tremula x alba*) and alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*), respectively. The phloem loading was impaired in the apoplasmic loader alfalfa, whereas no loading effect was observed in grey poplar. This indicated that sucrose was loaded to phloem through symplasmic transport route in *Populus* (Zhang *et al.*, 2014).

After transport through phloem, Suc is unloaded in sink tissues which are carbohydrate importers such as wood. In stem phloem, sucrose is unloaded from sieve tubes to ray cells and the transport continues through ray cells symplasmically. However, the investigation of sucrose transport from ray cells to developing wood in *Populus* using symplasmic fluorescent tracers did not

reveal any connections between rays and developing vessels or fibers (Sokolowska & Zagorska-Marek, 2012). It was suggested that sucrose is first actively exported from ray cells and then is imported into developing fibres and vessels. This was supported by Mahboubi *et al.*, (2013) where the reduction of a sucrose transporter expression by RNAi in developing wood during secondary cell wall formation resulted in decreased carbon allocation into secondary cell walls. It was concluded that active sucrose import is required to maintain secondary cell wall biosynthesis in developing wood (Mahboubi *et al.*, 2013).

After sucrose has been actively imported into wood cells, it is hydrolysed in order to join the sugar metabolism pathways. In the next section, I elucidate sucrose hydrolysis mechanisms in wood cells.

1.3 Sucrose hydrolysis mechanisms in wood

According to the current understanding, Suc in plants can be hydrolysed either by sucrose synthase (SUS) or invertase (INV) activity to supply energy and carbon to the cellular metabolism.

1.3.1 Sucrose Synthase (SUS):

SUS belongs to the glycosyltransferase family of enzymes and catalyses reversible cleavage of Suc. The reaction favours Suc degradation to form Fru and UDP-Glc in the presence of UDP at neutral pH in sink tissues (Fig. 3) (Geigenberger & Stitt, 1993; Delmer, 1972).



Fig. 3 Illustration of the reversible reaction of SUS.

Isoforms of *SUS* are expressed ubiquitously in plant tissues, and the SUS proteins have been localized to different compartments of a plant cell. The immuno-localization of SUS using an anti-SUS antibody suggested that SUS was associated with the membrane fraction in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*) fibers (Amor *et al.*, 1995) and a specific cotton SUS (SusC) was localized at the cell wall of cotton fibers (Brill *et al.*, 2011). The blotting of different cell

fractions from root tips and shoot using a maize (*Zea Mays*) anti-SUS antibody showed the localization of SUS in cytosol, mitochondria and nuclei (Subbaiah *et al.*, 2006). In another example, co-immuno-detection of Arabidopsis SUS2 and E37 which is a polypeptide of the inner plastid envelope showed SUS association with plastids of *Arabidopsis thaliana* embryo, endosperm and seed coat (Nunez *et al.*, 2008). In addition, immuno-localization studies in which a maize anti-SUS antibody was used, revealed presence of SUS in both purified tonoplast vesicles of red-beet (*Beta vulgaris*) hypocotyls (Etxeberria & Gonzalez, 2003) and Golgi membrane enriched fractions from maize coleoptile or soy bean (*Glycine max*) hypocotyl (Buckeridge *et al.*, 1999).

In summary, localization studies in different species so far have revealed the association of SUS proteins with plasma membrane (Amor *et al.*, 1995), cell wall (Brill *et al.*, 2011), mitochondria, cytosol, nuclei (Subbaiah *et al.*, 2006), plastid (Nunez *et al.*, 2008), tonoplast (Etxeberria & Gonzalez, 2003) and Golgi (Buckeridge *et al.*, 1999) indicating to diverse functions of SUS proteins.

The functional role of SUSs has been investigated in several species using genetic tools. Antisense inhibition of SUS in potato tubers reduced SUS activity in tubers and resulted in reduced starch, but increased sucrose, glucose and fructose content (Zrenner et al., 1995). Consistent with this observation, reduced SUS activity in the double mutant of maize developing endosperm SUSs, shs1 and sus1, showed a reduction in starch content (Chourey et al., 1998). These studies suggested that sucrose synthase provides substrates for starch synthesis by breaking sucrose down. In tomato (Lycopersicon chmielewskii), it was shown that SUS activity was high during the fruit growth and almost no activity was detected in the mature tomato fruit. Since SUS activity correlated with fruit size, it was suggested that SUS in developing tomato fruit increases the fruit sink strength (Sun et al., 1992). In a study of wheat (Triticum aestivum) roots, SUS activity was below detection level under well aerated conditions (Albrecht & Mustroph, 2003). However, SUS activity was increased in root meristem and lateral root under hypoxia where oxygen level was very low. Increased SUS activity under hypoxia correlated with an increase in soluble carbohydrate content and thickening of cell walls by increasing both cellulose and callose content. This study indicated that SUS has a role in UDP-Glc formation for the synthesis and thickening of the cell walls under hypoxia (Albrecht & Mustroph, 2003). The role of SUS in callose formation was supported by Barratt et al., (2009). In Arabidopsis, two SUS isoforms out of six, which are SUS5 and SUS6, were shown to be localized in hypocotyl phloem by SUS5 and SUS6 specific antibodies. The double knock-

out *Arabidopsis* mutant of *sus5/sus6* caused collapsing sieve plates. In addition, immunogold labeling with anti-callose antiserum followed by transmission electron microscopy showed thinner callose layer in the mutant. It was concluded that SUS5 and SUS6 provide UDP-Glc for callose formation on phloem sieve plates (Barratt *et al.*, 2009). SUSs were also suggested to have role in cellulose biosynthesis where immuno-localization of SUS in cotton fibers showed plasma membrane association of SUS (Amor *et al.*, 1995). In this study, isolated cotton fibers were supplied with ¹⁴C labeled Suc and the analysis resulted in production of both labelled cellulose and callose. Hence, SUSs activity was correlated with biosynthesis of glucan polymers at the plasma membrane.

It can be concluded that individual SUS isoforms are involved in the production of substrates which are used in starch, cellulose and callose biosynthesis. They are important for plant tissue and organ development including potato tuber (Zrenner *et al.*, 1995), wheat root (Albrecht & Mustroph, 2003), maize seed (Chourey *et al.*, 1998), tomato fruit (Sun *et al.*, 1992), cotton fibers (Amor *et al.*, 1995) and *Arabidopsis* root and stem (Barratt *et al.*, 2009).

A popular model of cellulose biosynthesis depicts a plasma membrane associated SUS in the supply of UDP-Glc directly to cellulose synthesis complex (CSC) (Fujii et al., 2010; Haigler et al., 2001; Amor et al., 1995). This model is largely based on the observation that reduced SUS activity in transgenic cotton seed fibers caused reduced fiber initiation and elongation (Ruan et al., 2003). It is worth to note that in these transgenic cotton lines, hexose sugar content was also reduced and this might affect sugar signalling and osmotic potential which could also lead to problems in fiber initiation and elongation. A direct association of CSC and SUS in Populus deltoides x canadensis developing wood was also suggested by Song et al., (2010). In this study, SUS protein identified using proteomics analysis with antibody directed immuno-precipitation of CSCs. However, it was unclear whether the SUS protein, which was identified in immuno-precipitation of CSCs, was detected due to cytosolic contamination during the isolation steps. Moreover, overexpression of cotton SUS under 35S and 4CL promoter in Populus alba x grandidentata increased SUS activity by 2.5-fold and resulted in 2-6% increase crystalline cellulose (Coleman et al., 2009). The effect of the increase in SUS activity was not limited to cellulose biosynthesis, but also affected hemicellulose content where mannose content was also increased and

arabinose content decreased (Coleman *et al.*, 2009). As a result, the support for specific involvement of SUS in cellulose biosynthesis is still unclear.

A serious challenge of the SUS-CSC model came with the observation that a quadruple knock-out (sus1sus2sus3sus4) mutant of Arabidopsis did not show any defects in growth or cell wall polymer biosynthesis. The remaining SUS5 and SUS6, as explained above in this section, were detected only in phloem sieve elements and the sus5/sus6 double knock out lines showed thinner callose layer in the pores of sieve element plates. Hence, it was suggested that SUS5 and SUS6 had a role in callose formation, but alternative pathways could also supply UDP-Glc to cellulose biosynthesis (Barratt et al., 2009). In the same study, in addition to quadruple SUS mutant, double knock-out of two neutral/alkaline invertases (NINs) which are highly expressed in the root of Arabidopsis were analysed. The NIN, cinv1/cinv2, mutant plants were much smaller compared to wild type (WT) and had reduced root growth with a tendency of root cells to collapse. It was suggested that this abnormality was due to a defect in cell wall biosynthesis, but the authors did not analyse any cell wall component in these mutant lines. Many of the conclusions of this study were subsequently challenged by measuring SUS activity in the quadruple mutant using optimized SUS assay conditions (Baroja-Fernandez et al., 2012). In the study, it was claimed that the remaining SUS5 and SUS6 in Arabidopsis quadruple sus1sus2sus3sus4 mutant had sufficient SUS activity to compensate the lack of SUS activity. Nonetheless, in this study, there is no indication of cell wall analysis in mutant lines and no debate on the role of SUS5 and SUS6 in callose synthesis. Although the activity measurement may not have been reliable in Barratt et al., (2009), they showed convincingly the localization of SUS5 and SUS6 and the defect in callose formation in the stem. Moreover, Baroja-Fernandez et al., (2012) did not provide an explanation how phloem localized SUS could compensate cell wall biosynthesis throughout the plant.

Consequently, the possible function of SUS in cellulose and cell wall biosynthesis remained unclear.

1.3.2 Invertases (INVs)

INVs provide an alternative sucrose cleavage method to SUS. As mentioned above and discussed in more detail here, INVs have recently emerged as a crucial enzyme for plant growth and development.

INV was first isolated from yeast and identified by Berthelot in 1860 and its chemical properties were first examined by Neumann & Lampen, (1967). INVs catalyse the irreversible hydrolysis of sucrose into Glc and Fru (Fig. 4). INVs are classified as cell wall, vacuolar and neutral/alkaline invertases according to their pH optima and cellular locations (Winter & Huber, 2000; Sturm, 1999).



Fig. 4. Illustration of the irreversible reaction of INVs.

Acidic invertases: Cell wall invertases (CWIN) and vacuolar invertases

Acidic INVs are known as fructo-furanosidases which can also hydrolyse other fructofuranoses such as raffinose and stachyose, besides sucrose (Sturm, 1999). There are two types of acidic INVs: cell wall invertases (CWINs) and vacuolar invertase (VINs) (Bocock *et al.*, 2008). CWINs and VINs are localized in cell wall matrix or in vacuole, respectively. They have an optimum activity at acidic pH and are N-glycosylated (Tymowska-Lalanne & Kreis, 1998).

CWIN mutants have provided insights into the functional roles of this group of enzymes. In rice (*Oryza sativa*) grains, a loss of function mutant of the *CWIN* gene (*GIF1*) increased susceptibility to postharvest fungal pathogens (Sun *et al.*, 2014). Cell wall analysis of rice glume in *gif1* mutant showed thinner cell walls and reduced cytosolic glucose, fructose and sucrose content compared to WT. Overexpression of *GIF1* resulted in an increase in cytosolic sugars, but did not show any difference in cell wall thickness in leaf mesophyll cells compared to WT. Interestingly, after infection, overexpression lines showed enhanced fungal resistance and increased cell wall thickness. The thicker cell walls were shown to contain increased levels of xylose, cellulose and callose (Sun *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the expression of pathogen related genes was constitutively elevated after infection in overexpression lines. It was concluded that rice CWIN/GIF1 has a role in cell wall reinforcement and activates pathogen related defence by mediating sugar homeostasis under pathogen



attack. In tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum), pollen specific antisense repression of a CWIN (NIN88) generated male sterile plants, decreased pollen germination and pollen number, and had less number of seeds. It also reduced seed vessel development which resulted in loss of seed weight. This suggested that CWIN has an important role in male gametophyte development in tobacco (Hirsche et al., 2009). In tomato (Solanum lycopersicum), RNAi silenced CWIN inhibitor (INVINH1) increased CWIN activity and following this Fru and Glc levels were also increased. The increase in CWIN activity resulted a delay in leaf senescence, and an increase in both seed and fruit size (Jin et al., 2009). Although there is no discussion on whether the improvement in fruit development was a secondary effect from the delayed senescence, the increased activity of cell wall localized INV in tomato might be an indication for the primary effect of CWIN in fruit and seed development. The study in hybrid Populus (Populus alba L x grandidentata Michx.) showed that the expression of one of the two CWINs (PaxgINV2) was detected in all tissues with elevated expression during actively growing tissues, whereas *PaxgINV1* had elevated expression during dormancy (Canam et al., 2008). It was hypothesized that CWINs in Populus sp. are involved in phloem unloading and providing sugars in growing tissues. In summary, these studies indicated that CWINs have a role in reinforcement of cell wall under pathogen attack (Sun et al., 2014), phloem unloading (Canam et al., 2008), timing senescence and fruit, pollen and seed development (Jin et al., 2009).

VINs have been shown to have a role in hexose accumulation, cell division and cell expansion. Comparison of two cotton genotypes, Gossypium barbadense (Gb) which has seed fibers longer than Gossypium hirsutum (Gh) showed that longer fibers had more VIN (GhVIN1) activity and Fru, Glc and Suc concentrations were elevated (Wang et al., 2010). In the same study, overexpression of GhVIN1 and inhibition of GhVIN1 in cotton fiber cells elevated or reduced fiber elongation, respectively. Hence, VINs activity correlated to cell expansion and osmotic regulation by regulating hexose and Suc concentrations in cotton fiber cells. In another study, quantitative trait loci (QTL) detected for root and hypocotyl length revealed a positive correlation between a VIN and root/hypocotyl elongation in Arabidopsis. The VIN gene (At1g12240) pinpointed by the QTL analysis for root length was shown to be involved in root cell expansion by subsequent mutant analysis. Null mutant vin plants had shorter roots and suggested that this VIN has an important role in cell division and cell elongation (Sergeeva et al., 2006). In summary, VINs are important for osmotic regulation by mediating hexoses and sucrose

concentrations both in dividing and expanding cells (Wang *et al.*, 2010; Sergeeva *et al.*, 2006).

There are no published studies directly linking acidic INVs to cell wall polymer biosynthesis. It is worth to note that overexpression of the *CWIN* (*GIF1*) gene in rice leaf exhibited more hemicellulose, cellulose and callose content in the cell wall only during infection (Sun *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, increased CWIN activity by overexpression of a yeast *CWIN* in *Populus* affected neither growth rate nor sugar levels. However, mutant lines showed necrotic symptoms in leaves under high temperature condition and had more callose compared to WT (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). These results indicated that CWINs might be involved in cell wall polymer biosynthesis under stress conditions, but it is unclear whether this involvement is in cell wall signalling or in supplying sugars to polymer synthesis machinery.

Neutral/alkaline invertases (NINs):

NINs also catalyse the irreversible hydrolysis of sucrose to Glc and Fru. In contrast to acidic invertases, NINs have an optimum activity at neutral or alkaline pH (pH 6.8-8.5), catalyse only Suc hydrolysis and are not glycosylated. NINs are closely related to cyanobacterial INVs and are thought to have their evolutionary origin in the endosymbiotic ancestor of chloroplasts (Vargas *et al.*, 2003). NINs are also closely related to periplasmic INVs of aerobic bacteria and respiratory eukaryotes such as yeasts (Ji *et al.*, 2005).

NINs have been identified in several plant species. For example, *Populus* has 16 genes (Bocock *et al.*, 2008), *Arabidopsis* 9 genes (Vargas *et al.*, 2003), and rice 8 genes (Ji *et al.*, 2005). According to the current nomenclature, *NINs* are classified into α and β clusters based on amino acid similarity and exon/intron structures. *NINs* in α cluster (*NIN 1-7*) were predicted to localize in cell compartments (Bocock *et al.*, 2008). *In vivo* studies using fluorescent protein fusion have confirmed that NINs belonging to α clade in rice and *Arabidopsis* were localized to mitochondria and chloroplast, respectively (Xiang *et al.*, 2011; Murayama & Handa, 2007). However, the members of β cluster (*NIN 8-16*) are predicted as cytosolic NINs (Bocock *et al.*, 2008). This prediction was also confirmed in both tobacco and *Arabidopsis* leaf protoplasts by tagging a β -clade NIN protein with a fluorescent protein (Liu *et al.*, 2015; Xiang *et al.*, 2011).

NINs are expressed in different organs and tissues implying they play important roles in various biological processes in plants. Mutant studies of organelle localized NINs revealed important functions in mitochondria and chloroplast. For example, in Arabidopsis, the knock-out mutant of a NIN (At-A/N-InvA) which was located in mitochondria had reduced shoot and leaf development, and had short roots compared to WT (Xiang et al., 2011). The authors hypothesized that NINs might mediate the supply of Glc to mitochondria associated Hexokinase (mtHXK). Due to the link between mtHXK and reactive oxygen species homeostasis (Bolouri-Moghaddam et al., 2010) the expression level of both mtHXK and ROS genes were analysed in A/N Inv-A mutants. The analysis showed an elevated expression of both mtHXK and ROS genes in mutant plants. In contrast, transient overexpression of At-A/N-InvA in Arabidopsis mesophyll protoplasts down regulated APX2 promoter which is known to respond to oxidative stress. The authors proposed that mitochondrial NIN contributed to ROS homeostasis by supplying Glc to mtHXKs in mitochondria (Xiang et al., 2011). Another Arabidopsis NIN, At-A/N-InvE was shown to localize to chloroplasts using green fluorescent protein (GFP) tag. A T-DNA mutant of At-A/N-InvE did not show any difference in Suc content, but had lower starch content. This NIN was hypothesized to have a function in regulating carbon portioning between the cytosol and the chloroplast starch by Suc hydrolysis in chloroplast (Vargas et al., 2008). The localization of NINs in plastids is intriguing since it is unclear whether plastids contain any Suc. Although Gerrits et al., (2001) suggested the presence of Suc in chloroplasts, it is still unknown how Suc would be transported into chloroplast.

Cytosolic NINs (cNINs) have a general role in plant growth. In *Lotus japonicus*, a mutation in *cNIN* (*LjINV1*) resulting in its activity being reduced, caused a reduction in root and shoot growth and had a deficiency in flowering (Welham *et al.*, 2009). Similar, a mutation in a *cNIN* (*Oscyt-inv1*) in rice resulted short root phenotype and defect in pollen fertility. This mutant had higher sucrose and lower hexoses in both root and leaf compared to WT and addition of exogenous Glc rescued the phenotype. This study led authors to conclude that cNINs have a critical role in root and pollen development in rice by supplying hexoses to the cell metabolism (Jia *et al.*, 2008). In wheat, it was reported that the knock-down mutation of a *cNIN* (*Ta-A/N-Inv1*), accumulated H_2O_2 and increased occurrence of cell death during *Puccinia striiformis* (*Pst*) pathogen infection. This mutant had an increase in photosynthesis rate during infection and elevated transcript levels of chloroplast localized ROS associated genes. This study proposed that cNINs in wheat may regulate photosynthesis

by hexose accumulation to avoid cell death due to excessive ROS production during infection (Liu *et al.*, 2015). All these studies indicate a central and general role for cNINs in Suc cleavage in plants and the cNIN activity reduction in plants may cause growth phenotypes ranging from leaf, shoot and root growth defects to male sterility. However, it is not possible to conclude from current studies whether the cause of phenotypes was the primary effect or a secondary effect of reduction in cNIN activity.

A link between NINs and cell wall polymer biosynthesis has not been studied so far, but the lack of obvious phenotypes in *SUS* mutant plants indicated a dominant role of NINs over SUS in cell wall biosynthesis. Near absent SUS activity in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) stems had no effect on cell wall composition but caused an increase in NIN activity. It was speculated that NINs instead were involved in substrate supply for cellulose biosynthesis in alfalfa (Samac *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, the double knock-out mutant of *cNINs* (*cinv1cinv2*) in *Arabidopsis* resulted in dwarf plants and reduced root growth (Barratt *et al.*, 2009). Having no obvious phenotype in *Arabidopsis* quadruple *sus1sus2sus3sus4* mutant (Barratt *et al.*, 2009) and the SUSRNAi hybrid aspen lines in (Gerber *et al.*, 2014) (Paper I) led us to question whether INV pathway is contributing to cell wall, especially to cellulose biosynthesis in the developing wood of aspen.

1.4 Biosynthesis of cell wall components in developing wood

The carbohydrate polymers of wood cell walls are synthesized from nucleotide-diphosphate sugars (NDP-sugars), such as UDP-Glc, UDP-Gal or GDP-Man. NDP-sugars are activated forms of monosaccharides in that they contain a high energy bond and hence have ability to transfer this energy to form glycosidic bonds. NDP-sugars are in most cases formed from hexose phosphate sugars which are produced after Suc hydrolysis in wood cells (Fig. 5).

As described above, SUS can produce UDP-Glc and Fru (Delmer, 1972). Alternatively, INV catalyzes Suc and produces Glc and Fru (Neumann & Lampen, 1967). Glc enters the hexose-phosphate pool by HXK conversion to Glc-6-P. Fru is irreversibly phosphorylated either by fructokinases (FRK) (Medina & Sols, 1956) or hexokinases (HXK) (Berger et al., 1946) to form Fru-6-P. Fru-6-P is substrate for phospho-manno-isomerase (PMI) to form mannose-6-phosphate (Man-6-P) (Slein, 1950) or phospho-gluco-isomerase (PGI) (Tsuboi et al., 1958) to form Glc-6-P. Both Man-6-P and Glc-6-P are targeted by their mutase enzymes, phospho-manno-mutase (PMM) (Small &

Matheson, 1979) and phospho-gluco-mutase (PGM) (Joshi et al., 1964) to produce mannose-1-phosphate (Man-1-P) and glucose-1-phosphate (Glc-1-P), respectively. UDP-Glc pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) converts Glc-1-P to UDP-Glc (Kamogawa & Kurahashi, 1965) and GDP-Man pyrophosphorylase (GMP) produces GDP-Man (GDP-Man) (Peaud-Lenoel & Axelos, 1968). The described enzymes in Suc cleavage, hexose phosphate formation and interconversion are soluble in cytosol and the sugars in these pathways are produced in cytosol.

NDP-sugars which are used as precursors for cell wall biosynthesis are derived from UDP-Glc, except GDP-Man and GDP-Fucose. UDP-Glucoronic acid (UDP-GlcA), UDP-Galactose (UDP-Gal), and UDP-Rhamnose (UDP-Rha) are derived from UDP-Glc interconversion by UDP-Glc dehydrogenease (Sergeeva et al., 2006; Maxwell et al., 1956), UDP-Glc-4-epimerase (Maxwell & Derobichonszulmaister, 1960) and UDP-Glc 4,6 hydrolvase (RHM) (Kamsteeg et al., 1978), respectively. In addition, UDP-GlcA can also be produced by myo-Inositol oxidation pathway (Fig. 5). Myo-Inositol is formed through the conversion of Glc-6-P to myo-Inositol-1-P and then to myo-Inositol by Inositol-1-P synthase (InsP₁Sy) (Eisenberg, 1967) and Inositolphosphatephosphatase (Gee et al., 1988), respectively. Myo-Inositol oxygenase (MIOX) converts myo-Inositol to GlcA (Charalampous, 1959) and following, GlcA is converted to GlcA-1-P by glucuronokinase (GK) (Neufeld et al., 1959). GlcA-1-P is then converted to UDP-GlcA by UDP-GlcA pyrophosphorylase (Roberts, 1971) or UDP-Sugar pyrophosphorylase (USPase) (Kotake et al., 2004).

UDP-GlcA is the precursor for UDP-Xylose (UDP-Xyl) (Ankel & Feingold, 1965), and UDP-Galacturonic acid (UDP-GalA) conversion of which is catalysed by their respective glycosyl transferases, UDP-Xyl synthase (UXS) and UDP-GlcA epimerase (UGlcAE). In addition, UDP-Arabinose (UDP-Ara) is formed from UDP-Xyl by UDP-Ara 4-epimerase (Lerouxel *et al.*, 2006; Feingold *et al.*, 1960). The enzymes responsible for NDP-sugar formation are mainly located in cytosol. However, 4-epimerases acting on UDP-GlcA/UDP-GalA and UDP-Xyl/UDP-Ara are located in Golgi cisternae (Barber *et al.*, 2006; Seifert, 2004; Burget *et al.*, 2003).



Fig. 5 Model of metabolic pathways from sucrose to cell wall polymers in aspen wood.

1.4.1 Cellulose Biosynthesis

Cellulose is the most abundant biopolymer on earth and the main component of plant cell walls (Delmer & Haigler, 2002). It has a role in determining the physical characteristics and strength of the cell wall and in providing mechanical support to the plant (Nishiyama, 2009). Cellulose is formed by individual β -1-4 glucan chains which can crystallize to form cellulose microfibrils (CMFs) through inter and intra hydrogen bonds and Van der Waals interactions (O'Sullivan, 1997). In plant cells, most of the cellulose forms CMFs which have some amorphous (non-crystalline) regions located at the surface of crystalline CMFs and are not arranged in a specific manner (Kondo *et al.*, 2001).

Cellulose is biosynthesized at the plasma membrane by cellulose synthase complexes (CSCs). Freeze fracture experiments on maize mesophyll parenchyma where the tissue cuts were stained with gold and rapidly frozen in liquid nitrogen followed by an electron microscopy analysis proposed that a hexameric rosette particles localized at the terminal part of CMFs on plasma membrane was responsible for cellulose synthases (Mueller & Brown, 1980). After, clear evidence of CSC's involvement in cellulose biosynthesis was shown in a radially swelling mutant in *Arabidopsis* (Arioli *et al.*, 1998). The mutation caused a single amino acid change in *Arabidopsis* cellulose synthase A (CesA) and caused deficiency in cellulose formation with a loss of rosette

structures in the plasma membrane. Further evidence of the connection between CesAs and CSC was shown in immuno-gold localization of cotton CesA protein in rosettes of freeze fractured membranes (Kimura *et al.*, 1999). According to latest models in plants, a CSC forms a hexagonal rosette and consists of 18 - 36 CesAs to produce 18-24 CMFs (Hill *et al.*, 2014; Newman *et al.*, 2013).

CesAs are known as glycosyl transferase proteins and utilize UDP-Glc as a substrate to produce glucan chains in order to form CMFs (Glaser, 1958). As explained in section 1.4, UDP-Glc can be supplied either by SUS or the NIN pathway in plant cells. SUS was suggested to have a direct association with CSCs and directly channels UDP-Glc to CesAs (Fujii *et al.*, 2010; Haigler *et al.*, 2001; Amor *et al.*, 1995). However, quadruple knock-out in four of six *Arabidopsis SUSs* did not have any defect in cellulose (Barratt *et al.*, 2009). In addition, double knock-out of *Arabidopsis UGPases* showed a phenotype which was associated with cellulose decrease (Park *et al.*, 2010). In another study, inhibition of fructokinase (FRK) reduced cellulose level in hybrid aspen wood (Roach *et al.*, 2012). These studies indicated that SUS model where SUS directly supplies UDP-Glc to CSCs is unlikely. Hence, the carbon allocation to cellulose remained unclear.

1.4.2 Hemicellulose biosynthesis

Hemicelluloses are cross-linking glycans which are one of the major components of plant cell walls. They are heterogeneous polysaccharides that are formed by β -1,4 glycosidic bond at the backbone of the polymer. They bind both to cellulose and lignin by hydrogen-bonds and Van der Waals forces (Lerouxel *et al.*, 2006) or covalent bond, respectively (Carpita, 1996). In *Populus* wood, major types of hemicellulose polysaccharides are glucoronoxylan, glucomannan and xyloglucan. Glucoronoxylan is the most abundant hemicellulose in *Populus* wood that has an acetylated β -1,4 xylan backbone with α -1,2 glucoronic acid side-chains (Mellerowicz *et al.*, 2001). Second most abundant hemicellulose is glucomannan which has mixed β -1,4 glucose and β -1,4 mannan units at the backbone (Kim & Daniel, 2012). Xyloglucans are mostly found in primary cell walls of wood. It has β -1,4 glucan chain backbone and α -1,6 xylose side chains (Hoffman *et al.*, 2005).

Hemicelluloses are synthesized in Golgi by cellulose synthase like (CSL) proteins and glycosyltransferases (GTs), and then transported to the cell wall by vesicles. Both CSLs and GTs are Golgi membrane localized proteins. They

use NDP-sugars (section 1.4) as substrate and add monosugars to the reducing end of the backbone (Pauly *et al.*, 2013; Lerouxel *et al.*, 2006).

1.4.3 Lignin Biosynthesis

Lignin is a heteropolymer synthesized by laccases and peroxidases catalysing radical coupling of different monolignols which are aromatic alcohols. Lignin is mainly composed of three monolignols: sinapyl alcohol (S lignin), coniferyl alcohol (G lignin) and p-coumaryl (H lignin) (Boerjan *et al.*, 2003). Lignin polymer in angiosperm tree species consists mainly of S and G lignin subunits.

Carbon source for lignin biosynthesis is derived from Fru-6-P and Glc-6-P which are formed after sucrose hydrolysis in the plant cell. Both Fru-6-P and Glc-6-P are used as precursor for pentose phosphate pathway products of which are precursors of shikimate pathway in plastids. One of the end products of shikimate pathway is phenylalanine which enters the phenylpropanoid pathway to produce monolignols (Herrmann & Weaver, 1999).

1.5 Analysis of metabolites by LC-MS

The intermediates of Calvin cycle, sucrose and starch synthesis pathways in photosynthetic tissues, and cell wall polymer biosynthesis pathway in wood tissues consist mainly of sugar phosphates (sections 1.2 and 1.4). Hence, determination and quantification of sugar phosphates is important to investigate central carbon metabolism in plants. This requires a simple and robust extraction of metabolites and a detection method which should be sensitive, rapid and also handle different types of compounds such as polar, ionic or hydrophobic compounds.

There are three prevalent examples of metabolite extraction methods for plant materials. First one is chloroform-methanol extraction which is the most commonly used extraction method (Lunn *et al.*, 2006; Gullberg *et al.*, 2004). This extraction method is suitable to extract water soluble and organic soluble metabolites. Second one is hot ethanol extraction. It is suitable to extract polar and mildly non-polar metabolites (Bieleski, 1964). Although this method is easy to do, it requires ethanol extraction steps by heating ethanol. Some enzymes may remain active during heating steps and digest some metabolites. Third one is tri-chloro-acetic acid (TCA)-ether extraction method. This is suitable for acid stable and water soluble metabolites (Jelitto *et al.*, 1992).



To detect metabolites, the combined liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) is an ideal method to identify and quantify compounds which have low molecular weight (Nordstrom *et al.*, 2004). MS can detect compounds which have an electrical charge (ions) based on mass to charge ratio (m/z). Depending on ionization technique, the molecular ions are fragmented into smaller ions. When very little fragmentation is occurring after ionization, isomeric compounds, such as Glc-6-P, Glc-1-P and Fru-6-P, show similar mass spectra and cannot be distinguished. To overcome this problem, MS is connected to a LC which separates molecules based on the interaction with mobile and stationary phases through a column (Huber & Oberacher, 2001). In summary, the separated metabolites in LC system must be first ionized before entering the MS. Following this, masses are separated in the mass analyser and then identified by a detector.

Different LC-MS techniques were used to profile sugar phosphates. For example, anion exchange chromatography connected to tandem mass spectrometry (AEC-MS/MS) was able to detect metabolites including Glc-6-P, Glc-1-P, Fru-6-P, Trehalose-6-P (Tre-6-P) and UDP-Glc. However, metabolites were not eluted completely in the column and triose phosphates were not detected (Arrivault *et al.*, 2009). In another study, it has been shown that using volatile alkylamine tributylamine as an ion pair compound (IPC-MS/MS) can help to separate organic acids and most of the phosphorylated molecules (Lou *et al.*, 2007), but this approach had some limitations. The major problem in IPC-MS/MS was that ion-pairing reagents interfered with the LC-MS/MS instrument and were difficult to wash out from the LC-system, and therefore the instrument might not be possible to use for other applications. In addition to that, it failed to detect Tre-6-P, Suc-6-P and PGA, and these molecules were quantified by enzymatic reactions (Arrivault *et al.*, 2009).

Reversed phase LC cannot be used for highly polar metabolites since they do not retain on a C18 column. This may cause ion suppression problems while using electrospray ionization due to large amount of unretained molecules in the columns competing for charges during ionization (Annesley, 2003). To overcome this problem, it was shown that including a derivatization step after extraction of polar molecules increased their hydrophobicity and improved chromatographic retention (Nordstrom *et al.*, 2004). In the same study, cytokinins and nucleotides were derivatized either by propionyl or benzoyl groups, but it was not shown how derivatization affects other polar molecules.

All taken together, the field is still missing a robust and easy detection of polar metabolites.

2 Objectives

My overall aim in this study was to define the sucrose metabolism pathway in secondary cell wall forming cells with a focus on UDP-Glc production for cellulose biosynthesis in hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* L. *x tremuloides* Michx.) and develop a method to extract and quantify sugar phosphates and UDP-Glc.

Specific goals of my project were:

To investigate the role of soluble sucrose synthases (SUSs) in cellulose and wood biosynthesis in hybrid aspen (paper I)

To characterize cytosolic neutral/alkaline invertases (cNINs) and to investigate the role of cNINs in cellulose and wood formation in hybrid aspen (paper II)

To develop an LC-MS method to determine and quantify extracted sugar phosphates from plant materials (paper III)

3 Material and Methods

In this section, I give a description of the material and methods which are not found in the attached papers.

3.1 Model organism

In this study, hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* L. *x tremuloides* Michx.) was used as the model tree species for the following reasons. Hybrid aspen can produce a large amount of woody biomass in a short period of time making it well suited for the study of wood formation. *Populus* sp. are phylogenetically relatively close to *Arabidopsis* allowing the transfer of knowledge from *Arabidopsis* studies to *Populus* (Jansson & Douglas, 2007). Moreover, *Populus* can be genetically modified by *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation which gives the possibility to create mutant lines with altered expression of targeted genes to investigate their biological function (Nilsson *et al.*, 1992). The genome of *Populus trichocarpa* was the first sequenced tree genome. The genome is 500Mbp and approximately four times larger than *Arabidopsis* genome. It consists of 19 chromosomes and 40000 gene models (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006); https://phytozome.jgi.doe.gov). In addition, availability of extensive gene expression data for *Populus* (http://popgenie.org) facilitates functional genetics studies.

3.2 Study approach to investigate SUSs and INVs

There are two types of genetic screens to study the function of a gene: reverse genetics and forward genetics. Forward genetics is a phenotype-centric approach which is used to find the genetic basis of a phenotype. In contrast to forward genetics, reverse genetics aims to find the phenotype which is the result of an engineered specific gene (Alonso & Ecker, 2006). Availability of whole genome and mRNA sequence databases and improvements in gene cloning have made reverse genetics approach a faster, cheaper and easier way to test the hypothesis about specific gene functions.

Reverse genetics studies require first a selection of a candidate gene from the available databases based on its expression level in the tissue or the cellular/physiological process of interest. Second, mutant lines of the candidate genes are generated using one of the different methods. Some examples of these methods are insertional mutagenesis by T-DNA or transposon insertion, targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING), RNA interference (RNAi), micro RNA (miRNA) (Alonso & Ecker, 2006) or CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene silencing (Jinek *et al.*, 2012).

In this study, reverse genetics approach was used to investigate the function of *Populus tremula x tremuloides* SUSs and INVs in cellulose biosynthesis of wood cells. The candidate genes for *SUSs*, *SUS1* and *SUS2*, were selected based on their expression profile in developing wood using expressed sequence tag, sequencing and microarray data (Geisler-Lee *et al.*, 2006; Hertzberg *et al.*, 2001). The candidate gene for *INVs*, *cNIN12*, was selected based on its expression profile in developing wood which was obtained from microarray data (Hertzberg *et al.*, 2001). The selected genes were down regulated by using the RNAi mediated gene silencing approach (Hannon, 2012). *SUS1* and *SUS2* genes were targeted by *35S* promoter and *cNIN12* was targeted to secondary cell wall forming phase of developing wood cells by *GT43B* (*p-GLYCOSYLTRANSFERASE-43B*) promoter (Ratke *et al.*, 2015). The mutant lines with reduced transcript levels of candidate genes were selected for further characterization.

3.3 Analysis of metabolites by reverse phase LC-MS/MS

In this study, tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) was connected to reverse phase liquid chromatography (RP-LC) where the metabolites bind to a silica based C_{18} column by hydrophobic interactions in the presence of a hydrophilic solvent (for instance, water) and are eluted off by a more hydrophobic solvent like methanol or acetonitrile. After separation in LC, molecules were ionized using electrospray ionization (ESI) and were detected with MS/MS.

As it was mentioned in section 1.5, reversed phase liquid chromatography cannot be used for highly polar metabolites due to lack of retention on a C_{18}

column and may cause an ion suppression problem while using ESI (Jessome & Volmer, 2006). To overcome this problem and improve chromatographic retention of polar molecules, consecutive derivatizations were done to increase hydrophobicity. Samples were first derivatized by methoxylamine (CH₃ONH₂) which reacts with carbonyl groups to form an oxime derivative (-CH₃ON) (Fig. 6; paper III, Fig. 1) (Gullberg *et al.*, 2004). The derivatization was continued by applying methylimidazol and propionic acid anhydride to esterify hydroxyl groups by propionylation (Fig. 6; paper III, Fig. 1) (Nordstrom *et al.*, 2004). These derivatizations provided more hydrophobicity, less diversity in polarity of compounds and better ionization during ESI process.



Fig. 6 Examples of derivatized molecules. This figure illustrates propionylation of Glc-6-P and derivatization of Glc-1-P by methoxyamine/pyridine and methylimidazol/propionic acid anhydride.

To identify analytes after ionization, Quadrupole-Time of Flight (QTOF) was used as a tandem mass analyser in paper III. A quadrupole (Q) is a mass analyser which has four cylindrical metal rods placed in parallel to form a cavity along the central axis of rods. The ions entering to the cavity are oscillated and masses are separated depending on both ion motion in the dynamic electric field and mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) of the ion (Glish & Vachet, 2003). TOF mass analyser measures the time of flight through a tunnel under low vacuum conditions for an ion which has a specific m/z ratio

(Weickhardt *et al.*, 1996). In QTOF, precursor ions, which are selected in the quadrupole, are fragmented in a collision cell and then fragments are measured in TOF. This MS/MS provides a high resolution and a high accuracy of mass measurement, hence it is suitable for identifying analytes.

The quantification of analytes in paper III was done by triple quadrupole (QqQ) tandem mass analyser in multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode. In QqQ, first and last quadrupoles are used as mass analysers and the middle quadrupole is used as a collision cell where ions are fragmented. In the first quadrupole precursor ions and in the second one product ions can be monitored. In this MS/MS, single reaction monitoring (SRM) mode is used to monitor one precursor-product ion. On the other hand, to monitor more than one precursor-product ion combinations, multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) is used (Glish & Vachet, 2003). MRM mode has high sensitivity and selectivity; hence it is well suited for quantification of analytes. However, MRM has low resolution, but a good chromatographic separation can compensate this disadvantage.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Deficient sucrose synthase activity in developing wood does not specifically affect cellulose biosynthesis, but causes an overall decrease in cell wall polymers (paper I)

The discovery of a plasma membrane associated SUS in developing wood led to a model of direct association between SUS and CesA machinery, where SUS supplies UDP-Glc directly to the cellulose synthase complex (CSC) for cellulose biosynthesis (Fujii *et al.*, 2010; Haigler *et al.*, 2001; Amor *et al.*, 1995). Since this depicted model was based on observations from SUS immunolocalization analyses, the role of SUS in cellulose biosynthesis was questioned by Barratt *et al.*, (2009) where *Arabidopsis sus1sus2sus3sus4* mutant showed no difference in plant growth and cellulose percentage in stems compared to WT. However, this study was challenged by the work of Baroja-Fernandez *et al.*, (2012), in which it was claimed that the remaining *SUS5* and *SUS6* in quadruple *sus* mutant were enough to compensate SUS activity. Therefore, evidence for the essential role of SUS in cellulose biosynthesis were still missing.

In paper I, to investigate the role of SUSs in cellulose and cell wall biosynthesis, the most abundant *SUS* transcripts, *SUS1* and *SUS2* (paper I; Fig. S1a, 1c), in developing wood were downregulated using RNAi under the *35S* promoter. Three *SUSRNAi* lines with reduced transcript abundance of both *SUS1* and *SUS2* to a small percentage of WT (Fig. 7a, 7b; paper I, Fig. 1a, 1b) were selected for further characterization. Consistently, the reduced *SUS1* and *SUS2* transcript levels resulted in a decrease in SUS activity to 4-13% of WT in developing wood (Fig. 7c; paper I, Fig. 1c). Despite of this reduction in the activity, trees developed normally (paper I, Table 1).



Fig. 7 *SUS1* and *SUS2* expression, and total sucrose synthase activity, in developing wood of hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula x tremuloides*) *SUSRNAi* lines. (a) Relative expression of SUS1 in wild-type (WT) and *SUSRNAi* lines 1, 2 and 3. (b) Relative expression of SUS2 in WT and *SUSRNAi* lines 1, 2 and 3. (c) SUS activity in developing wood of WT and *SUSRNAi* lines. Activity was assayed in the sucrose cleavage direction as measured by UDP-dependent UDP-glucose production at pH 7.0. Values are means _ SE. For expression values, n = 5 biological replicates; for SUS activity, n = 6 biological replicates. Student's t-test comparison with WT: ***, P < 0.001.

To further investigate the effect of SUS activity reduction in wood formation, both structure and chemistry of wood were analysed in mutant lines. The measurement of fiber cell wall area and wood density showed a decrease in *SUSRNAi* lines compared to WT (paper I, Table 4). Following, wet chemistry analyses revealed less cellulose, lignin and hemicellulose content per volume of wood (paper I, Fig. 3b).

To investigate the effect of reduced SUS activity in sink strength, the soluble sugar content was analysed. The mutant lines had an increase in Suc and hexose levels, but a decrease in UDP-Glc and hexose phosphates levels (paper I, Fig. 4a and 4b). This indicated no inhibition in carbon supply from phloem, however indicated a reduction in carbon flux to hexoses phosphates and UDP-Glc.

As a result, our study demonstrates that SUS has an important role in carbon flux from Suc to all wood polymers and has no essential role in supplying UDP-Glc to CSC. A similar conclusion was suggested by a study in which the



expression of mung bean (*Vigna radiata*) SUS in Populus alba did not change cell wall polymer content, but resulted in elevated incorporation of isotopically labelled Suc into cellulose and xyloglucan (Konishi *et al.*, 2004). In another study, expression of cotton SUS under 35S and vascular 4CL promoter in Populus alba x grandidentata increased wood cellulose and hemicellulose proportions (Coleman *et al.*, 2009). The observations from these studies suggest that an increase in SUS activity in developing wood can increase carbon allocation not only to cellulose but also to non-cellulosic cell wall polymers.

When all these studies are taken together, they imply another pathway which can also provide UDP-Glc for cellulose production. We, therefore, investigated the role of cNINs in developing wood of hybrid aspen in the next study (section 4.2).

4.2 Cellulose biosynthesis in wood relies on cytosolic invertase activity (paper II)

NINs are now included in many cellulose biosynthesis models as an alternative to SUS (McFarlane *et al.*, 2014; Endler & Persson, 2011), but so far there are no studies showing a direct evidence linking NINs to cell wall biosynthesis.

In paper II, to investigate the role of cNINs in cell wall biosynthesis, the level of NIN transcripts (B clade NINs) was checked using available microarray data (Hertzberg et al., 2001) (paper II, Fig. S2a and S2b). NIN12 transcript was identified as the most abundant β clade NIN transcript during secondary cell wall formation. B clade NINs were predicted to localize in cytosol (Bocock et al., 2008). To experimentally determine the subcellular localization of NIN12, a yellow fluorescent protein (YFP):NIN12 fusion construct was transiently expressed in tobacco. Like YFP control, (YFP):NIN12 and NIN12:(YFP) was detected in cytosol (paper II, Fig. S3). To further characterize NIN12, a recombinant NIN12 (rNIN12) was produced in Escherichia coli and kinetic properties were analysed. rNIN12 showed sucrose cleavage activity at alkaline pH (pH 8-8.5) (paper II, Fig. S1b). It had a $K_{\rm M}$ for sucrose of around 7 mM at the temperature 25°C, pH 7, and was able to hydrolyse sucrose but not maltose, raffinose or trehalose in vitro. These results indicated that NIN12 is a typical cytosolic neutral/alkaline invertase (cNIN) (Xiang et al., 2011; Qi et al., 2007; Vargas et al., 2007; Lee & Sturm, 1996).

In the next step, hybrid aspen *NIN12* transcript was downregulated using RNAi under the *GT43B* promoter. This promoter is active during secondary cell wall

formation (Ratke *et al.*, 2015), therefore using it would prevent pleiotropic effects due to *NIN12* transcript reduction in other tissues. It should be noted that *NIN12* has high homology (93%) with *NIN8*, which is also expressed in wood (paper II, Fig. S2a) hence neither RNAi targeting nor qPCR analysis could distinguish these two isoforms. Three lines with 60 - 66 % reduced *NIN12/8* transcript compared to WT were chosen for further investigation (Fig. 8a; paper II, Fig. 1a). Following, the reduction in transcript level resulted in reduced total soluble NIN activity in transgenic lines to 45 - 62% of WT (Fig. 8b; paper II, Fig. 1b). However, the greenhouse grown *NIN12/8-RNAi* lines showed no obvious altered growth phenotypes (paper II, Fig. S5) and no obvious changes in general wood anatomy, vessel density, or wood fiber cell wall thickness compared to WT (paper II, Fig. S6).



Fig 8 *CIN8/12* transcript level and total neutral invertase activity in developing wood of *CIN12RNAi* lines. (a) Relative transcript abundance of *CIN8/12* in WT and *CIN12RNAi* lines 1, 2 and 3. Values are means \pm SE (n = 3 – 4 biological replicates). (b) Total neutral invertase activity in developing wood of WT and *CIN12RNAi* lines. Activity was assayed as sucrose derived hexose production at pH 7.0. Values are means \pm SE (n = 3 – 4 biological replicates). Means not sharing a common letter are significantly different at P <0.001 as determined by Tukey's test after one-way ANOVA

To see the effect of reduced cNIN activity in cell wall polymer biosynthesis, analysis of cell wall composition of mature wood of *NIN12RNAi* lines was performed. Updegraff cellulose analysis, which measures crystalline cellulose, showed a significant reduction (9 - 13%) in weight proportion (Fig. 9a; paper II, Fig. 2a). Klason lignin analysis, which measures insoluble lignin content, revealed no change (Fig. 9b; paper II, Fig. 2b). Interestingly, cell wall monosaccharide composition analysis in acetyl chloride/methanol extracted wood showed a 52 - 62% increase in glucose content of transgenic lines, while hemicellulosic monosaccharides were unaffected (Fig. 9c; paper II, Fig. 2c). Cellulose microfibrils consist of a mixture of crystalline and less well organized amorphous regions (Nishiyama, 2009); the latter being soluble in acid extraction (Sannigrahi *et al.*, 2008; Bondeson *et al.*, 2006). We, therefore,

hypothesized that the high Glc content in cell wall monosaccharide composition was observed due to increased amorphous cellulose in transgenic lines.



Fig. 9 Mature wood composition of WT and *CIN12RNAi* lines. (a) Crystalline (Updegraff) cellulose. (b) Acid insoluble lignin. (c) Sugar composition of the 2 M acetyl chloride/methanol extracted wood fraction. Values are means \pm SE (n = 4 biological replicates). Means not sharing a common letter are significantly different at P <0.005 as determined by Tukey's test after one-way ANOVA.

To test this hypothesis, the enzymatic saccharification of de-starched, soluble sugar free and homogenized mature wood was performed using either cellulose specific hydrolytic enzymes or a cocktail of enzymes which also targets hemicelluloses. The cellulose specific treatment released 12-21% more glucose from *NIN12/8-RNAi* compared to WT (paper II, Fig. 3a). Consistent with this, the enzyme cocktail treatment to check any changes in both cellulose and hemicellulose digestion showed a 12-21% increase in Glc release, whereas no consistent difference was detected in hemicellulosic sugars (paper II, Fig. 3b). These results indicated that the higher Glc release in transgenic lines was most likely derived from cellulose. This supported our hypothesis that the reduction

in NIN12/8 activity altered CMF structure. This conclusion led us to investigate CMFs using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). CMF diameters of mature wood samples treated with Updegraff reagent were measured from SEM images and showed a shift in the size distribution towards thinner fibrils in all *NIN12/8-RNAi* lines compared to WT (Fig. 10; paper II, Fig. 4).



Fig. 10 Cellulose microfibril diameter of WT and *CIN12RNAi* lines. (a) Scanning electron microscopy images of WT and *CIN12RNAi* wood treated with Updegraff reagent prior to imaging. (b) Cellulose microfibril diameter distributions measured from SEM images using ImageJ software. (c) Average cellulose microfibril diameter. Values are means \pm SE. (n = 4 biological replicates, 60 – 70 fibrils per replicate). Means not sharing a common letter are significantly different at P <0.0001 as determined by Tukey's test after one-way ANOVA.

The possible explanation for altered cellulose in transgenic lines, whose total NIN activity was reduced, could be limited carbon supply to cellulose biosynthesis. The effect of limited substrate on starch biosynthesis can be given as an example of this explanation. The reduced ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase activity, which produces the ADP-glucose used by starch synthases (Martin & Smith, 1995), caused a reduction in amylopectin chain length distribution in the green algae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and potato tubers (Lloyd *et al.*, 1999; Van den Koornhuyse *et al.*, 1996). In the next step, soluble sugar and UDP-Glc analyses were performed to check whether limiting substrate altered CMF structure. Suc, Glc and Fru levels were not significantly different compared to WT, but UDP-Glc levels were reduced to 53 - 78% of WT levels in the transgenic lines (paper II, Fig. 5). This indicated that the presence of less UDP-Glc for cellulose synthesis altered cellulose structure, which had more disorganized (amorphous) cellulose and less crystalline

structure. It can be speculated that the limited UDP-Glc caused premature glucan chain terminations during cellulose biosynthesis and therefore more amorphous cellulose were formed.

In paper II, I also investigated whether the change in cellulose was due to primary or secondary effect of the reduced NIN activity by sequencing mRNA in WT and Line 2. Surprisingly, only 2 genes were significantly up-regulated and 6 genes were significantly down regulated (paper II, Table S3). Among these differentially expressed genes, only *NIN12* and *NIN8* were related to carbohydrate metabolism.

In conclusion, the reduction in cytosolic NIN activity reduced UDP-Glc availability for cellulose biosynthesis and caused an altered cellulose phenotype. This study shows that cNINs in developing wood of hybrid aspen are critical for cellulose formation.

4.3 Determination of sugar phosphates in plants using combined reversed phase chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry (paper III)

Sugar phosphate (sugar-P) analysis is important to understand the central carbon metabolism and investigate the effect of mutations on metabolites of wood. Therefore, a comprehensive, simple and reproducible method is required to identify and quantify sugar-Ps in plant materials.

In paper III, I developed a two-step derivatization method to improve the chromatographic properties of sugar-Ps by reverse phase liquid chromatography (RP-LC), in order to identify and quantify sugar-Ps in hybrid aspen leaves and wood. The identification of metabolites by RP-LC-MS/MS depends on the data obtained from standard analysis. I, therefore, derivatized 19 authentic standards (Fig. 11; paper III, Fig. 2), first using methoxylamine (Gullberg *et al.*, 2004), and then a second derivatization was performed by application of propionic acid anhydride (Nordstrom *et al.*, 2004) and *N*-methylimidazol as catalyst. In the first derivatization step, metabolites with a free carbonyl group, such as Glc-6-P, Fru-6-P and 3-PGA, were first transformed into methoxime derivatives (-CH₃ON). In the second derivatization step, hydroxyl groups of metabolites were esterified by propionylation (Fig. 6; paper III, Fig. 1). Subsequently, the derivatized authentic standards were analysed by UHPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS, using different columns such as such as Waters Acquity HSS-T3, Phenomenex Kinetex EVO-

C18, Phenomenex Kinetex Biphenyl, Phenomenex Kinetex phenyl-hexyl, Phenomenex Kinetex pentafluorophenyl or Phenomenex Kinetex Synergi Fusion-RP C18 and mobile phases, consisting of different concentrations of water (with 0.1-2% HCOOH) and MeOH, or AcN (with 0.1-2% HCOOH), with binary gradient elution. The best separation was obtained with the Waters Acquity HSS-T3 column and MeOH as an organic mobile solvent. In addition, peak tailing was reduced by increasing the concentration of formic acid to 2% in the mobile phase (paper III, Fig. S2), where pH was lowered and consequently decreased interaction between phosphate groups and the column material.



Fig. 11 UHPLC-MRM-MS profiles of sugar phosphate derivatives of a standard solution consisting of: (1) 3-PGA, 2-PGA, (3) GAP, (4) DHAP, (5) RuBP, (6) FBP, (7) E4P, (8) X5P, (9) Ru5P, (10) 2-DeoxyG (IS), (11) R5P, (12) Gal1P, (13) G1P, (14) F6P, (15) G6P, (16) Sedu7P, (17) UDP-G, (18) T6P, (19) S6P. (see the full extent of abbreviations in paper III, Table 1.)

The derivatization of metabolites and good separation on RP-LC provided an easy way to distinguish structural isomers such as Glc-1-P and Glc-6-P on MS/MS spectra (paper III, Fig. 1), and MRM-transitions were different for isomers (paper III, Fig. S1, Table S1). The results of the separation and the detection of standards by UHPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS showed that the derivatization by oximation and propionylation is an efficient method for improving the retention and the separation of sugar-Ps on RP-LC by making the polar compounds more hydrophobic.

To identify sugar-Ps in plant materials, I extracted metabolites from *Populus* leaf and wood samples by using two different procedures. The first procedure was a one-phase extraction with chloroform/MeOH/H₂O (1:3:1) mixture (Gullberg *et al.*, 2004) and the second one was the extraction with chloroform/methanol (3:7) and partitioned against H₂O (Lunn *et al.*, 2006). Since only small differences were detected between these two procedures, I used the widely accepted method, chloroform/methanol (3:7), for metabolite

extraction in further experiments. After the extraction, the derivatization method was applied and derivatives were analysed as described above. The analysis identified 18 sugar-Ps including UDP-Glc in hybrid aspen wood, based on comparison between retention time and MS/MS-spectra with standard compounds (paper III, Table 1). The mass error, which is the difference between the experimental and theoretical mass of the analyte, describes how well the analyser measures the mass, showed a range between 0.05 to 6.1 mDa. The highest mass error, 6.1 mDa, was calculated for Fru-1,6-P, which could be due to interfering substances in the corresponding chromatographic area. These results showed a good identification and mass determination of selected sugar-Ps.

There are several aspects of mass spectrometry that are important for the analysis, and quantification of metabolites, such as sensitivity, linearity and reproducibility. Sensitivity is the smallest amount of a metabolite that can be analysed in the mass spectra. Linearity is the range of analyte concentration to which ion signal is linearly related, and reproducibility refers to the precision of replicated measurements. In this study, the sensitivity and linearity were measured by using concentrations from 50 pg to 20 ng/µl of standards, which included 2-Deoxy-glucose as an internal standard (IS) (paper III, Table 2). The sensitivity measurement showed the lower limit of detection (LLOD), ranging from low to high picomoles. Compared to other studies, the sensitivity results were 10 to 1000 times better for many compounds (Arrivault et al., 2009; Cruz et al., 2008; Luo et al., 2007; Lunn et al., 2006). The linearity analysis showed a good quantitative link between the MS response and analyte concentration where R^2 was ≥ 0.99 , except for 3-PGA ($R^2=0.98$) and UDP-Glc ($R^2=0.97$). Moreover, most of analytes were detected in the 50-5000 pg range. The precision of standards using both the 125pg and 2500pg calibration levels showed relative standard deviation (RSD %) values <9.0. In addition to standard analysis, the reproducibility of the developed method in this study applied to 10 pooled biological replicates of hybrid aspen leaf and wood, respectively. The RSD values for the majority of the sugar-Ps were 5-20% in hybrid aspen leaf and 5-15% in hybrid aspen wood (paper III, Table 2). However, RSD values for Suc-6-P was 21.1% in leaf, and 2-PGA, E4P and X5P had RSD values over 20% in wood. A reason for high RSD values could be due to the low abundance of some of these sugar-Ps and/or interferences with closely co-eluting isomeric compounds. As a result, these measurements demonstrated the high sensitivity, good linearity and reproducibility of the method.

To quantify extracted sugar-Ps from *Populus* leaf and wood, UHPLC-ESI-QqQ-MS was used. In *Populus* leaf samples, the analysis could quantify 16 out of 17 sugar-Ps ranging between 1.8-86.2 ng/mgFW. On the other hand, 12 sugar-Ps were quantified in *Populus* wood samples ranging between 2.0-143.2 ng/mgFW (Table 3). Suc-6-P in leaf samples and 3-PGA, 2-PGA, Glc-1-P, Sedu7P and Suc-6-P in wood samples could not be quantified. The concentrations of unquantified analytes did not fit the calibration curve and therefore they were considered as less than the lower limit of detection. However, this situation can be improved by extending the calibration curves and lowering the concentration of internal standard in the samples.

In paper III, I also investigated the recovery of metabolites after extraction. To check whether the metabolites of interest were quantitatively extracted during chloroform/methanol (3:7) extraction, 8 standard compounds including IS (paper III, Table 3) were derivatized either with or without performing the extraction procedure. The recovery of selected standards was between 70% and 92%, except 3-PGA (63.5%) (paper III, Table 3). The results indicated losses during the extraction procedure. To validate the method for extracted metabolites from hybrid aspen leaf, analytical recoveries of extracted samples were measured by a spiking approach of selected metabolites, where known amounts of 8 standard compounds were added to the samples during the extraction. The recovery tests were between 80-120% with RSD values of 5-14% (paper III, Table 4). The recovery test showed that all of the selected metabolites were quantitatively extracted from hybrid aspen leaf and the method could be applicable for plant materials.

In contrast to previous studies where AEC-MS/MS (Lunn *et al.*, 2006) or IPC-MS/MS (Arrivault *et al.*, 2009; Luo *et al.*, 2007) were used to analyse sugar-Ps, I was able to separate disaccharide phosphate isomers T6P/S6P and hexose phosphate isomers such as Glc-1-P/Glc-6-P together using the derivatization method and separation/detection on RP-LC-MS (paper III, Fig. S3 and Fig. S4). In addition, two unknown disaccharide phosphates, which had a retention time between Suc-6-P and Tre-6-P, were observed (paper III, Fig. S3). However, it was not possible to annotate these disaccharide phosphates, because the tandem mass spectra were identical between the different isomers, and no other standards were available.

In conclusion, the method which was developed in this part of my PhD study provided a simple, fast and robust protocol to separate, identify and quantify sugar-Ps in plant extracts.

5 Conclusion and future perspectives

Biosynthesis of cellulose and other cell wall polymers in hybrid aspen depends on sucrose metabolism. Sucrose catabolism, therefore, has a great importance in providing carbon for wood biosynthesis. Sucrose is catabolised either by SUSs or NINs after it is actively imported into the wood cells.

In paper I, RNAi mediated down regulation of highly expressed *SUS* genes during secondary cell wall formation in wood revealed that soluble SUSs have a role in carbon allocation not only to cellulose but also to non-cellulosic cell wall polymers. The findings supported studies, which challenged current sucrose synthase model where sucrose synthase is associated to the CSC and supplies UDP-glucose directly to the CSC. However, this study does not refute the possibility of CSC associated SUSs. A further investigation of CSC associated SUSs in developing wood can address the question whether associated SUSs exist and contribute to cellulose biosynthesis in developing wood of hybrid aspen. Co-immuno-precipitation analysis and SUS activity measurement in enriched cell membrane fractions in developing wood of hybrid aspen could be used to investigate the contribution of associated SUSs in cellulose biosynthesis.

In paper II, down regulation of the *NIN* genes in developing wood of hybrid aspen showed that sucrose cleavage by NINs contributed significantly to the UDP-glucose biosynthesis pathway and consequently changed only cellulose microfibril structure among other cell wall polymers. The findings in this study improved our understanding of cellulose and wood formation in trees that cellulose biosynthesis requires cytosolic UDP-glucose and it is more sensitive to shortage of UDP-glucose compared to hemicellulosic cell wall polymers. In this study, the effect of reduced cNIN activity on cellulose was modest. The presence of other cNINs and SUS, which are still expressed during developing

wood, might compensate the reduction of NIN12/8 activity and recover the effect on cellulose. Targeting also these remaining cNINs and /or SUSs by RNAi or by current methods such as CRISPR/Cas9 can create a stronger phenotype and provide better information about the effect of cytosolic UDP-glucose shortage on other cell wall polymers. Furthermore, unlike acidic INV, there are only few studies showing post-transcriptional regulation of NINs, so the field requires more investigation on regulation of cNINs and how cNIN activity is synchronized by both sucrose synthesis and import to the cell. In addition, increased glucose yield in transgenic lines by enzymatic digestion of cellulose and unchanged total cellulose content of wood opened new possibilities in cellulose microfibril engineering for biorefinery applications. As a next step, growing these transgenic lines on the field will be interesting to observe how they can adapt to environment and whether they can be grown for biorefinery purposes.

In paper III, the quantitative analysis of sugar-Ps was improved by the development of a two-step derivatization procedure combined with RP-LC-MS. The chemical derivatization strategy provided a cheap and easy way to separate sugar-Ps, including structural isomers on traditional RP-LC and increased the sensitivity of mass spectra in negative ion ESI-MS mode. This approach was the first example of chemical derivatisation of sugar phosphates where both reducing and non-reducing sugar phosphates could be analysed in a single LC-MS run. In paper III, the focus was on sugar-Ps, but this method can also be applied to organic acids and other reducing sugars. In the next step, to include analysis of more metabolites, the method should be also optimized for other compounds using their authentic standards. In addition, the method was validated using extracted metabolites only from hybrid aspen wood and leaves. Using other types of plant materials, such as Arabidopsis leaf, root or cellculture extracts, can increase the validity of the method. Another issue, which should be considered in the next step, is to broaden the application of this method. For example, optimizing the analysis for isotope-labelled standards can provide the usage of this method in carbon flux analysis.

References

- Albrecht, G. & Mustroph, A. (2003). Sucrose Utilization via Invertase and Sucrose Synthase with Respect to Accumulation of Cellulose and Callose Synthesis in Wheat Roots under Oxygen Deficiency. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 50(6), pp. 813-820.
- Alonso, J.M. & Ecker, J.R. (2006). Moving forward in reverse: genetic technologies to enable genome-wide phenomic screens in Arabidopsis. *Nat Rev Genet*, 7(7), pp. 524-36.
- Amor, Y., Haigler, C.H., Johnson, S., Wainscott, M. & Delmer, D.P. (1995). A membrane-associated form of sucrose synthase and its potential role in synthesis of cellulose and callose in plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 92(20), pp. 9353-9357.
- Ankel, H. & Feingold, D.S. (1965). Biosynthesis of Uridine Diphosphate D-Xylose. I. Uridine Diphosphate Glucuronate Carboxy-lyase of Wheat Germ*. *Biochemistry*, 4(11), pp. 2468-2475.
- Annesley, T.M. (2003). Ion suppression in mass spectrometry. *Clin Chem*, 49(7), pp. 1041-4.
- Arioli, T., Peng, L., Betzner, A.S., Burn, J., Wittke, W., Herth, W., Camilleri, C., Hofte, H., Plazinski, J., Birch, R., Cork, A., Glover, J., Redmond, J. & Williamson, R.E. (1998). Molecular analysis of cellulose biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. *Science*, 279(5351), pp. 717-20.
- Arrivault, S., Guenther, M., Ivakov, A., Feil, R., Vosloh, D., van Dongen, J.T., Sulpice, R. & Stitt, M. (2009). Use of reverse-phase liquid chromatography, linked to tandem mass spectrometry, to profile the Calvin cycle and other metabolic intermediates in Arabidopsis rosettes at different carbon dioxide concentrations. *Plant Journal*, 59(5), pp. 824-839.
- Barber, C., Rosti, J., Rawat, A., Findlay, K., Roberts, K. & Seifert, G.J. (2006). Distinct properties of the five UDP-D-glucose/UDP-D-galactose 4epimerase isoforms of Arabidopsis thaliana. J Biol Chem, 281(25), pp. 17276-85.
- Baroja-Fernandez, E., Munoz, F.J., Li, J., Bahaji, A., Almagro, G., Montero, M., Etxeberria, E., Hidalgo, M., Sesma, M.T. & Pozueta-Romero, J. (2012).

Sucrose synthase activity in the sus1/sus2/sus3/sus4 Arabidopsis mutant is sufficient to support normal cellulose and starch production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(1), pp. 321-326.

- Barratt, D.H., Derbyshire, P.F., K., Pike, M., Wellner, N., Lunn, J., Feil, R., Simpson, C., Maule, A.J. & Smith, A.M. (2009). Normal growth of Arabidopsis requires cytosolic invertase but not sucrose synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(31), pp. 13124-9.
- Berger, L., Slein, M.W., Colowick, S.P. & Cori, C.F. (1946). Isolation Of Hexokinase From Baker's Yeast. *The Journal of General Physiology*, 29(6), pp. 379-391.
- Bieleski, R.L. (1964). The problem of halting enzyme action when extracting plant tissues. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 9(4), pp. 431-442.
- Bocock, P.N., Morse, A.M., Dervinis, C. & Davis, J.M. (2008). Evolution and diversity of invertase genes in Populus trichocarpa. *Planta*, 227(3), pp. 565-76.
- Boerjan, W., Ralph, J. & Baucher, M. (2003). Lignin biosynthesis. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 54, pp. 519-46.
- Bolouri-Moghaddam, M.R., Le Roy, K., Xiang, L., Rolland, F. & Van den Ende, W. (2010). Sugar signalling and antioxidant network connections in plant cells. *FEBS J*, 277(9), pp. 2022-37.
- Bonan, G.B. (2008). Forests and Climate Change: Forcings, Feedbacks, and the Climate Benefits of Forests. *Science*, 320(5882), pp. 1444-1449.
- Bondeson, D., Mathew, A. & Oksman, K. (2006). Optimization of the isolation of nanocrystals from microcrystalline celluloseby acid hydrolysis. *Cellulose*, 13(2), p. 171.
- Brill, E., van Thournout, M., White, R.G., Llewellyn, D., Campbell, P.M., Engelen, S., Ruan, Y.L., Arioli, T. & Furbank, R.T. (2011). A Novel Isoform of Sucrose Synthase Is Targeted to the Cell Wall during Secondary Cell Wall Synthesis in Cotton Fiber. *Plant Physiology*, 157(1), pp. 40-54.
- Buckeridge, M.S., Vergara, C.E. & Carpita, N.C. (1999). The Mechanism of Synthesis of a Mixed-Linkage $(1\rightarrow 3),(1\rightarrow 4)\beta$ -d-Glucan in Maize. Evidence for Multiple Sites of Glucosyl Transfer in the Synthase Complex. *Plant Physiology*, 120(4), pp. 1105-1116.
- Burget, E.G., Verma, R., Molhoj, M. & Reiter, W.D. (2003). The biosynthesis of L-arabinose in plants: molecular cloning and characterization of a Golgilocalized UDP-D-xylose 4-epimerase encoded by the MUR4 gene of Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 15(2), pp. 523-31.
- Calvin, M. & Benson, A.A. (1949). The Path of Carbon in Photosynthesis IV: The Identity and Sequence of the Intermediates in Sucrose Synthesis. *Science*, 109(2824), pp. 140-2.
- Canam, T., Mak, S.W. & Mansfield, S.D. (2008). Spatial and temporal expression profiling of cell-wall invertase genes during early development in hybrid poplar. *Tree Physiol*, 28(7), pp. 1059-67.

- Carpita, N.C. (1996). Structure and Biogenesis of the Cell Walls of Grasses. *Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol*, 47, pp. 445-476.
- Charalampous, F.C. (1959). Biochemical Studies on Inositol: V. purification and properties of the enzyme that cleaves inositol to d-glucuronic acid. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 234(2), pp. 220-227.
- Chourey, P.S., Taliercio, E.W., Carlson, S.J. & Ruan, Y.L. (1998). Genetic evidence that the two isozymes of sucrose synthase present in developing maize endosperm are critical, one for cell wall integrity and the other for starch biosynthesis. *Molecular and General Genetics*, 259(1), pp. 88-96.
- Coleman, H.D., Yan, J. & Mansfield, S.D. (2009). Sucrose synthase affects carbon partitioning to increase cellulose production and altered cell wall ultrastructure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(31), pp. 13118-23.
- Cruz, J.A., Emery, C., Wust, M., Kramer, D.M. & Lange, B.M. (2008). Metabolite profiling of Calvin cycle intermediates by HPLC-MS using mixed-mode stationary phases. *Plant Journal*, 55(6), pp. 1047-1060.
- Dejardin, A., Laurans, F., Arnaud, D., Breton, C., Pilate, G. & Leple, J.C. (2010). Wood formation in Angiosperms. *C R Biol*, 333(4), pp. 325-34.
- Delmer, D.P. (1972). The Purification and Properties of Sucrose Synthetase from Etiolated Phaseolus aureus Seedlings. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 247(12), pp. 3822-28.
- Delmer, D.P. & Haigler, C.H. (2002). The regulation of metabolic flux to cellulose, a major sink for carbon in plants. *Metab Eng*, 4(1), pp. 22-8.
- Eisenberg, F. (1967). d-Myoinositol 1-Phosphate as Product of Cyclization of Glucose 6-Phosphate and Substrate for a Specific Phosphatase in Rat Testis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 242(7), pp. 1375-1382.
- Endler, A. & Persson, S. (2011). Cellulose synthases and synthesis in Arabidopsis. *Mol Plant*, 4(2), pp. 199-211.
- Etxeberria, E. & Gonzalez, P. (2003). Evidence for a tonoplast-associated form of sucrose synthase and its potential involvement in sucrose mobilization from the vacuole. *J Exp Bot*, 54(386), pp. 1407-14.
- Feingold, D.S., Neufeld, E.F. & Hassid, W.Z. (1960). The 4-epimerization and decarboxylation of uridine diphosphate D-glucuronic acid by extracts from Phaseolus aureus seedlings. *J Biol Chem*, 235, pp. 910-913.
- Fujii, S., Hayashi, T. & Mizuno, K. (2010). Sucrose Synthase is an Integral Component of the Cellulose Synthesis Machinery. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 51(2), pp. 294-301.
- Gee, N.S., Ragan, C.I., Watling, K.J., Aspley, S., Jackson, R.G., Reid, G.G., Gani, D. & Shute, J.K. (1988). The purification and properties of myo-inositol monophosphatase from bovine brain. *Biochemical Journal*, 249(3), pp. 883-889.
- Geigenberger, P. & Stitt, M. (1993). Sucrose synthase catalyses a readily reversible reaction in vivo in developing potato tubers and other plant tissues. *Planta*, 189(3), pp. 329-39.
- Geisler-Lee, J., Geisler, M., Coutinho, P.M., Segerman, B., Nishikubo, N., Takahashi, J., Aspeborg, H., Djerbi, S., Master, E., Andersson-Gunneras, S., Sundberg, B., Karpinski, S., Teeri, T.T., Kleczkowski, L.A., Henrissat,

B. & Mellerowicz, E.J. (2006). Poplar carbohydrate-active enzymes. Gene identification and expression analyses. *Plant Physiol*, 140(3), pp. 946-62.

- Gerber, L., Zhang, B., Roach, M., Rende, U., Gorzsas, A., Kumar, M., Burgert, I., Niittyla, T. & Sundberg, B. (2014). Deficient sucrose synthase activity in developing wood does not specifically affect cellulose biosynthesis, but causes an overall decrease in cell wall polymers. *New Phytol*, 203(4), pp. 1220-30.
- Gerrits, N., Turk, S.C., van Dun, K.P., Hulleman, S.H., Visser, R.G., Weisbeek, P.J. & Smeekens, S.C. (2001). Sucrose metabolism in plastids. *Plant Physiol*, 125(2), pp. 926-34.
- Glaser, L. (1958). The synthesis of cellulose in cell-free extracts of acetobacter xylinum. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 232(2), pp. 627-636.
- Glish, G.L. & Vachet, R.W. (2003). The basics of mass spectrometry in the twenty-first century. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 2(2), pp. 140-50.
- Gullberg, J., Jonsson, P., Nordstrom, A., Sjostrom, M. & Moritz, T. (2004). Design of experiments: an efficient strategy to identify factors influencing extraction and derivatization of Arabidopsis thaliana samples in metabolomic studies with gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Anal Biochem*, 331(2), pp. 283-95.
- Haigler, C.H., Ivanova-Datcheva, M., Hogan, P.S., Salnikov, V.V., Hwang, S., Martin, K. & Delmer, D.P. (2001). Carbon partitioning to cellulose synthesis. *Plant Mol Biol*, 47(1-2), pp. 29-51.
- Hannon, G.J. (2012). RNA interference. Nature, 418(6894), pp. 244-251.
- Hase, S., Ikenaka, T. & Matsushima, Y. (1978). Structure analyses of oligosaccharides by tagging of the reducing end sugars with a fluorescent compound. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 85(1), pp. 257-263.
- Herrmann, K.M. & Weaver, L.M. (1999). The shikimate pathway. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 50(1), pp. 473-503.
- Hertzberg, M., Aspeborg, H., Schrader, J., Andersson, A., Erlandsson, R., Blomqvist, K., Bhalerao, R., Uhlen, M., Teeri, T.T., Lundeberg, J., Sundberg, B., Nilsson, P. & Sandberg, G. (2001). A transcriptional roadmap to wood formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(25), pp. 14732-7.
- Hill, J.L., Hammudi, M.B. & Tien, M. (2014). The Arabidopsis Cellulose Synthase Complex: A Proposed Hexamer of CESA Trimers in an Equimolar Stoichiometry. *The Plant Cell*, 26(12), pp. 4834-4842.
- Hirsche, J., Engelke, T., Voller, D., Gotz, M. & Roitsch, T. (2009). Interspecies compatibility of the anther specific cell wall invertase promoters from Arabidopsis and tobacco for generating male sterile plants. *Theor Appl Genet*, 118(2), pp. 235-45.
- Hoffman, M., Jia, Z., Pena, M.J., Cash, M., Harper, A., Blackburn, A.R., 2nd, Darvill, A. & York, W.S. (2005). Structural analysis of xyloglucans in the primary cell walls of plants in the subclass Asteridae. *Carbohydr Res*, 340(11), pp. 1826-40.

- Huber, C.G. & Oberacher, H. (2001). Analysis of nucleic acids by on-line liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrom Rev*, 20(5), pp. 310-43.
- Jansson, S. & Douglas, C.J. (2007). Populus: a model system for plant biology. Annu Rev Plant Biol, 58, pp. 435-58.
- Jelitto, T., Sonnewald, U., Willmitzer, L., Hajirezeai, M. & Stitt, M. (1992). Inorganic pyrophosphate content and metabolites in potato and tobacco plants expressing E. coli pyrophosphatase in their cytosol. *Planta*, 188(2), pp. 238-244.
- Jessome, L.L. & Volmer, D.A. (2006). ion supression: A major concern in mass spectrometry. *Lc Gc north America*, 83-89.
- Ji, X., Van den Ende, W., Van Laere, A., Cheng, S. & Bennett, J. (2005). Structure, evolution, and expression of the two invertase gene families of rice. *J Mol Evol*, 60(5), pp. 615-34.
- Jia, L.Q., Zhang, B.T., Mao, C.Z., Li, J.H., Wu, Y.R., Wu, P. & Wu, Z.C. (2008). OsCYT-INV1 for alkaline/neutral invertase is involved in root cell development and reproductivity in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Planta*, 228(1), pp. 51-59.
- Jin, Y., Ni, D.A. & Ruan, Y.L. (2009). Posttranslational elevation of cell wall invertase activity by silencing its inhibitor in tomato delays leaf senescence and increases seed weight and fruit hexose level. *Plant Cell*, 21(7), pp. 2072-89.
- Jinek, M., Chylinski, K., Fonfara, I., Hauer, M., Doudna, J.A. & Charpentier, E. (2012). A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science*, 337(6096), pp. 816-21.
- Joshi, J.G., Handler, P. & Handler, P. (1964). Phosphoglucomutase. I. Purification And Properties Of Phosphoglucomutase From Escherichia Coli. *J Biol Chem*, 239, pp. 2741-51.
- Kamogawa, A. & Kurahashi, K. (1965). Purification and properties of uridinediphosphate glucose pyrophosphorylase from Escherichia coli K12. J Biol Chem, 57(6), pp. 758-65.
- Kamsteeg, J., van Brederode, J. & van Nigtevecht, G. (1978). Identification, properties, and genetic control of UDP-glucose: Cyanidin-3-rhamnosyl- $(1\rightarrow 6)$ -glucoside-5-O-glucosyltransferase isolated from petals of the red campion (Silene dioica). *Biochemical Genetics*, 16(11), pp. 1059-1071.
- Kim, J.S. & Daniel, G. (2012). Distribution of glucomannans and xylans in poplar xylem and their changes under tension stress. *Planta*, 236(1), pp. 35-50.
- Kimura, S., Laosinchai, W., Itoh, T., Cui, X., Linder, C.R. & Brown, R.M. (1999). Immunogold labeling of rosette terminal cellulose-synthesizing complexes in the vascular plant vigna angularis. *The Plant Cell*, 11(11), pp. 2075-2086.
- Kondo, T., Togawa, E. & Brown, R.M. (2001). "Nematic ordered cellulose": A concept of glucan chain association. *Biomacromolecules*, 2(4), pp. 1324-1330.
- Konishi, T., Ohmiya, Y. & Hayashi, T. (2004). Evidence that sucrose loaded into the phloem of a poplar leaf is used directly by sucrose synthase associated

with various beta-glucan synthases in the stem. *Plant Physiology*, 134(3), pp. 1146-1152.

- Kotake, T., Yamaguchi, D., Ohzono, H., Hojo, S., Kaneko, S., Ishida, H. & Tsumuraya, Y. (2004). UDP-sugar Pyrophosphorylase with Broad Substrate Specificity Toward Various Monosaccharide 1-Phosphates from Pea Sprouts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(44), pp. 45728-45736.
- Kruger, N.J. & von Schaewen, A. (2003). The oxidative pentose phosphate pathway: structure and organisation. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 6(3), pp. 236-46.
- Lee, H.S. & Sturm, A. (1996). Purification and characterization of neutral and alkaline invertase from carrot. *Plant Physiol*, 112(4), pp. 1513-22.
- Lerouxel, O., Cavalier, D.M., Liepman, A.H. & Keegstra, K. (2006). Biosynthesis of plant cell wall polysaccharides a complex process. *Curr Opin Plant Biol*, 9(6), pp. 621-30.
- Liu, J., Han, L., Huai, B., Zheng, P., Chang, Q., Guan, T., Li, D., Huang, L. & Kang, Z. (2015). Down-regulation of a wheat alkaline/neutral invertase correlates with reduced host susceptibility to wheat stripe rust caused by Puccinia striiformis. *J Exp Bot*, 66(22), pp. 7325-38.
- Lloyd, J.R., Springer, F., Buleon, A., Muller-Rober, B., Willmitzer, L. & Kossmann, J. (1999). The influence of alterations in ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase activities on starch structure and composition in potato tubers. *Planta*, 209(2), pp. 230-238.
- Lou, Y., Gou, J.Y. & Xue, H.W. (2007). PIP5K9, an Arabidopsis phosphatidylinositol monophosphate kinase, interacts with a cytosolic invertase to negatively regulate sugar-mediated root growth. *Plant Cell*, 19(1), pp. 163-81.
- Lunn, J.E., Feil, R., Hendriks, J.H., Gibon, Y., Morcuende, R., Osuna, D., Scheible, W.R., Carillo, P., Hajirezaei, M.R. & Stitt, M. (2006). Sugarinduced increases in trehalose 6-phosphate are correlated with redox activation of ADPglucose pyrophosphorylase and higher rates of starch synthesis in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Biochem J*, 397(1), pp. 139-48.
- Luo, B., Groenke, K., Takors, R., Wandrey, C. & Oldiges, M. (2007). Simultaneous determination of multiple intracellular metabolites in glycolysis, pentose phosphate pathway and tricarboxylic acid cycle by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A, 1147(2), pp. 153-64.
- Mahboubi, A., Ratke, C., Gorzsas, A., Kumar, M., Mellerowicz, E.J. & Niittyla, T. (2013). Aspen SUCROSE TRANSPORTER3 Allocates Carbon into Wood Fibers. *Plant Physiology*, 163(4), pp. 1729-1740.
- Martin, C. & Smith, A.M. (1995). Starch biosynthesis. Plant Cell, 7(7), pp. 971-85.
- Maxwell, E.S. & Derobichonszulmajster, H. (1960). Purification of Uridine Diphosphate Galactose-4-Epimerase from Yeast, and the Identification of Protein-Bound Diphosphopyridine Nucleotide. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 235(2), pp. 308-312.
- Maxwell, E.S., Kalckar, H.M. & Strominger, J.L. (1956). Some Properties of Uridine Diphosphoglucose Dehydrogenase. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 65(1), pp. 2-10.
- 52

- McFarlane, H.E., Doring, A. & Persson, S. (2014). The cell biology of cellulose synthesis. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 65, pp. 69-94.
- Medina, A. & Sols, A. (1956). A specific fructokinase in peas. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 19(2), pp. 378-9.
- Mellerowicz, E.J., Baucher, M., Sundberg, B. & Boerjan, W. (2001). Unravelling cell wall formation in the woody dicot stem. *Plant Mol Biol*, 47(1-2), pp. 239-74.
- Miziorko, H.M. & Lorimer, G.H. (1983). Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylaseoxygenase. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 52, pp. 507-35.
- Mueller, S.C. & Brown, R.M. (1980). Evidence for an intramembrane component associated with a cellulose microfibril-synthesizing complex in higher plants. *J Cell Biol*, 84(2), pp. 315-26.
- Murayama, S. & Handa, H. (2007). Genes for alkaline/neutral invertase in rice: alkaline/neutral invertases are located in plant mitochondria and also in plastids. *Planta*, 225(5), pp. 1193-1203.
- Neufeld, E.F., Feingold, D.S. & Hassid, W.Z. (1959). Enzymic phosphorylation of d-glucuronic acid by extracts from seedlings of Phaseolus aureus. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 83(1), pp. 96-100.
- Neumann, N.P. & Lampen, J.O. (1967). Purification and properties of yeast invertase. *Biochemistry*, 6(2), pp. 468-75.
- Newman, R.H., Hill, S.J. & Harris, P.J. (2013). Wide-angle x-ray scattering and solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance data combined to test models for cellulose microfibrils in mung bean cell walls. *Plant Physiol*, 163(4), pp. 1558-67.
- Nieminen, K., Robischon, M., Immanen, J. & Helariutta, Y. (2012). Towards optimizing wood development in bioenergy trees. *New Phytol*, 194(1), pp. 46-53.
- Nilsson, O., Aldén, T., Sitbon, F., H., A.L.C., Chalupa, V., Sandberg, G. & Olsson, O. (1992). Spatial pattern of cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoterluciferase expression in transgenic hybrid aspen trees monitored by enzymatic assay and non-destructive imaging. *Transgenic Research*, 1(5), pp. 209-220.
- Nishiyama, Y. (2009). Structure and properties of the cellulose microfibril. *Journal* of Wood Science, 55(4), pp. 241-249.
- Nordstrom, A., Tarkowski, P., Tarkowska, D., Dolezal, K., Astot, C., Sandberg, G. & Moritz, T. (2004). Derivatization for LC-electrospray ionization-MS: a tool for improving reversed-phase separation and ESI responses of bases, ribosides, and intact nucleotides. *Anal Chem*, 76(10), pp. 2869-77.
- Nunez, J.G., Kronenberger, J., Wuilleme, S., Lepiniec, L. & Rochat, C. (2008). Study of AtSUS2 localization in seeds reveals a strong association with plastids. *Plant Cell Physiol*, 49(10), pp. 1621-6.
- O'Sullivan, A.C. (1997). Cellulose: the structure slowly unravels. *Cellulose*, 4(3), pp. 173-207.
- Park, J.I., Ishimizu, T., Suwabe, K., Sudo, K., Masuko, H., Hakozaki, H., Nou, I.S., Suzuki, G. & Watanabe, M. (2010). UDP-Glucose Pyrophosphorylase is Rate Limiting in Vegetative and Reproductive Phases in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 51(6), pp. 981-996.

- Pauly, M., Gille, S., Liu, L., Mansoori, N., de Souza, A., Schultink, A. & Xiong, G. (2013). Hemicellulose biosynthesis. *Planta*, 238(4), pp. 627-42.
- Peaud-Lenoel, C. & Axelos, M. (1968). The purification and properties of guanosine diphosphate glucose pyrophosphorylase of pea seedlings. *Eur J Biochem*, 4(4), pp. 561-7.
- Plomion, C., Leprovost, G. & Stokes, A. (2001). Wood formation in trees. *Plant Physiol*, 127(4), pp. 1513-23.
- Qi, X.P., Wu, Z.C., Li, J.H., Mo, X.R., Wu, S.H., Chu, J. & Wu, P. (2007). AtCYT-INV1, a neutral invertase, is involved in osmotic stress-induced inhibition on lateral root growth in Arabidopsis. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 64(5), pp. 575-587.
- Ratke, C., Pawar, P.M.A., Balasubramanian, V.K., Naumann, M., Duncranz, M.L., Derba-Maceluch, M., Gorzsas, A., Endo, S., Ezcurra, I. & Mellerowicz, E.J. (2015). Populus GT43 family members group into distinct sets required for primary and secondary wall xylan biosynthesis and include useful promoters for wood modification. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 13(1), pp. 26-37.
- Rennie, E.A. & Turgeon, R. (2009). A comprehensive picture of phloem loading strategies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(33), pp. 14162-14167.
- Roach, M., Gerber, L., Sandquist, D., Gorzsas, A., Hedenstrom, M., Kumar, M., Steinhauser, M.C., Feil, R., Daniel, G., Stitt, M., Sundberg, B. & Niittyla, T. (2012). Fructokinase is required for carbon partitioning to cellulose in aspen wood. *Plant Journal*, 70(6), pp. 967-977.
- Roberts, R.M. (1971). The Formation of Uridine Diphosphate-Glucuronic Acid in Plants: URIDINE DIPHOSPHATE-GLUCURONIC ACID PYROPHOSPHORYLASE FROM BARLEY SEEDLINGS. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 246(16), pp. 4995-5002.
- Ruan, Y.L., Llewellyn, D.J. & Furbank, R.T. (2003). Suppression of sucrose synthase gene expression represses cotton fiber cell initiation, elongation, and seed development. *Plant Cell*, 15(4), pp. 952-64.
- Samac, D.A., Bucciarelli, B., Miller, S.S., Yang, S.S., O'Rourke, J.A., Shin, S. & Vance, C.P. (2015). Transgene silencing of sucrose synthase in alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.) stem vascular tissue suggests a role for invertase in cell wall cellulose synthesis. *BMC Plant Biol*, 15(1471-2229 (Electronic)), p. 283.
- Sannigrahi, P., Ragauskas, A.J. & Miller, S.J. (2008). Effects of Two-Stage Dilute Acid Pretreatment on the Structure and Composition of Lignin and Cellulose in Loblolly Pine. *BioEnergy Research*, 1(3), pp. 205-214.
- Seifert, G.J. (2004). Nucleotide sugar interconversions and cell wall biosynthesis: how to bring the inside to the outside. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 7(3), pp. 277-284.
- Sergeeva, L.I., Keurentjes, J.J.B., Bentsink, L., Vonk, J., van der Plas, L.H.W., Koornneef, M. & Vreugdenhil, D. (2006). Vacuolar invertase regulates elongation of Arabidopsis thaliana roots as revealed by QTL and mutant analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(8), pp. 2994-2999.
- 54

- Slein, M.W. (1950). PHOSPHOMANNOSE ISOMERASE. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 186(2), pp. 753-761.
- Small, D.M. & Matheson, N.K. (1979). Phosphomannomutase and phosphoglucomutase in developing Cassia corymbosa seeds. *Phytochemistry*, 18(7), pp. 1147-1150.
- Sokolowska, K. & Zagorska-Marek, B. (2012). Symplasmic, long-distance transport in xylem and cambial regions in branches of Acer pseudoplatanus (Aceraceae) and Populus tremula x P. tremuloides (Salicaceae). Am J Bot, 99(11), pp. 1745-55.
- Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller. (2007). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change: The Physical Science Basis 2007, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press
- Song, D., Shen, J. & Li, L. (2010). Characterization of cellulose synthase complexes in Populus xylem differentiation. *New Phytol*, 187(3), pp. 777-90.
- Sturm, A. (1999). Invertases. Primary structures, functions, and roles in plant development and sucrose partitioning. *Plant Physiol*, 121(1), pp. 1-8.
- Subbaiah, C.C., Palaniappan, A., Duncan, K., Rhoads, D.M., Huber, S.C. & Sachs, M.M. (2006). Mitochondrial localization and putative signaling function of sucrose synthase in maize. *J Biol Chem*, 281(23), pp. 15625-35.
- Sun, J., Loboda, T., Sung, S.J. & Black, C.C. (1992). Sucrose Synthase in Wild Tomato, Lycopersicon chmielewskii, and Tomato Fruit Sink Strength. *Plant Physiol*, 98(3), pp. 1163-9.
- Sun, L., Yang, D.L., Kong, Y., Chen, Y., Li, X.Z., Zeng, L.J., Li, Q., Wang, E.T. & He, Z.H. (2014). Sugar homeostasis mediated by cell wall invertase GRAIN INCOMPLETE FILLING 1 (GIF1) plays a role in pre-existing and induced defence in rice. *Mol Plant Pathol*, 15(2), pp. 161-73.
- Tsuboi, K.K., Estrada, J. & Hudson, P.B. (1958). Enzymes of the human erythrocyte. IV. Phosphoglucose isomerase, purification and properties. J Biol Chem, 231(1), pp. 19-29.
- Turgeon, R. (1996). Phloem loading and plasmodesmata. *Trends in Plant Science*, 1(12), pp. 418-423.
- Tuskan, G.A., Difazio, S., Jansson, S., Bohlmann, J., Grigoriev, I., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N., Ralph, S., Rombauts, S., Salamov, A., Schein, J., Sterck, L., Aerts, A., Bhalerao, R.R., Bhalerao, R.P., Blaudez, D., Boerjan, W., Brun, A., Brunner, A., Busov, V., Campbell, M., Carlson, J., Chalot, M., Chapman, J., Chen, G.L., Cooper, D., Coutinho, P.M., Couturier, J., Covert, S., Cronk, Q., Cunningham, R., Davis, J., Degroeve, S., Dejardin, A., Depamphilis, C., Detter, J., Dirks, B., Dubchak, I., Duplessis, S., Ehlting, J., Ellis, B., Gendler, K., Goodstein, D., Gribskov, M., Grimwood, J., Groover, A., Gunter, L., Hamberger, B., Heinze, B., Helariutta, Y., Henrissat, B., Holligan, D., Holt, R., Huang, W., Islam-Faridi, N., Jones, S., Jones-Rhoades, M., Jorgensen, R., Joshi, C., Kangasjarvi, J., Karlsson, J., Kelleher, C., Kirkpatrick, R., Kirst, M., Kohler, A., Kalluri, U., Larimer, F., Leebens-Mack, J., Leple, J.C., Locascio, P., Lou, Y., Lucas, S., Martin, F., Montanini, B., Napoli, C.,
 - 55

Nelson, D.R., Nelson, C., Nieminen, K., Nilsson, O., Pereda, V., Peter, G., Philippe, R., Pilate, G., Poliakov, A., Razumovskaya, J., Richardson, P., Rinaldi, C., Ritland, K., Rouze, P., Ryaboy, D., Schmutz, J., Schrader, J., Segerman, B., Shin, H., Siddiqui, A., Sterky, F., Terry, A., Tsai, C.J., Uberbacher, E., Unneberg, P., Vahala, J., Wall, K., Wessler, S., Yang, G., Yin, T., Douglas, C., Marra, M., Sandberg, G., Van de Peer, Y. & Rokhsar, D. (2006). The genome of black cottonwood, Populus trichocarpa (Torr. & Gray). *Science*, 313(5793), pp. 1596-604.

- Tymowska-Lalanne, Z. & Kreis, M. (1998). The Plant Invertases: Physiology, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. In: Callow, J.A. (ed. *Advances in Botanical Research*Volume 28) Academic Press, pp. 71-117.
- Van den Koornhuyse, N., Libessart, N., Delrue, B., Zabawinski, C., Decq, A., Iglesias, A., Carton, A., Preiss, J. & Ball, S. (1996). Control of starch composition and structure through substrate supply in the monocellular alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *J Biol Chem*, 271(27), pp. 16281-7.
- Vargas, W., Cumino, A. & Salerno, G.L. (2003). Cyanobacterial alkaline/neutral invertases. Origin of sucrose hydrolysis in the plant cytosol? *Planta*, 216(6), pp. 951-60.
- Vargas, W.A., Pontis, H.G. & Salerno, G.L. (2007). Differential expression of alkaline and neutral invertases in response to environmental stresses: characterization of an alkaline isoform as a stress-response enzyme in wheat leaves. *Planta*, 226(6), pp. 1535-1545.
- Vargas, W.A., Pontis, H.G. & Salerno, G.L. (2008). New insights on sucrose metabolism: evidence for an active A/N-Inv in chloroplasts uncovers a novel component of the intracellular carbon trafficking. *Planta*, 227(4), pp. 795-807.
- Wang, L., Li, X.R., Lian, H., Ni, D.A., He, Y.K., Chen, X.Y. & Ruan, Y.L. (2010). Evidence That High Activity of Vacuolar Invertase Is Required for Cotton Fiber and Arabidopsis Root Elongation through Osmotic Dependent and Independent Pathways, Respectively. *Plant Physiology*, 154(2), pp. 744-756.
- Weber, A.P., Schwacke, R. & Flugge, U.I. (2005). Solute transporters of the plastid envelope membrane. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 56, pp. 133-64.
- Weickhardt, C., Moritz, F. & Grotemeyer, J. (1996). Time-of-flight mass spectrometry: State-of the-art in chemical analysis and molecular science. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews*, 15(3), pp. 139-162.
- Welham, T., Pike, J., Horst, I., Flemetakis, E., Katinakis, P., Kaneko, T., Sato, S., Tabata, S., Perry, J., Parniske, M. & Wang, T.L. (2009). A cytosolic invertase is required for normal growth and cell development in the model legume, Lotus japonicus. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60(12), pp. 3353-3365.
- Winter, H. & Huber, S.C. (2000). Regulation of sucrose metabolism in higher plants: localization and regulation of activity of key enzymes. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 35(4), pp. 253-89.
- Xiang, L., Le Roy, K., Bolouri-Moghaddam, M.R., Vanhaecke, M., Lammens, W., Rolland, F. & Van den Ende, W. (2011). Exploring the neutral invertase-

oxidative stress defence connection in Arabidopsis thaliana. J Exp Bot, 62(11), pp. 3849-62.

- Zhang, C., Han, L., Slewinski, T.L., Sun, J., Zhang, J., Wang, Z.Y. & Turgeon, R. (2014). Symplastic phloem loading in poplar. *Plant Physiol*, 166(1), pp. 306-13.
- Zrenner, R., Salanoubat, M., Willmitzer, L. & Sonnewald, U. (1995). Evidence of the Crucial Role of Sucrose Synthase for Sink Strength Using Transgenic Potato Plants (Solanum-Tuberosum L). *Plant Journal*, 7(1), pp. 97-107.

Acknowledgement

Foremost, I would like to express my appreciation and thanks to my supervisor Totte Niittylä for giving me the opportunity to pursue a doctoral degree, always being available for giving advises, and his trust and patience on me.

Many thanks to my advisory group members, Catherine Bellini, Karin Ljung and Ewa Mellerowicz for following my PhD studies, advising and evaluating me.

I want to thank specially to Amir for his support and all I learned from him. I also want to thank to Wei, Guadalupe, John, Pieter and Totte's former group members Titti, Tina and Gaia.

Many thanks to my assistant supervisor Björn Sundberg and all former members of his group Judith, Melissa and David for helping me whenever I needed and very helpful discussions.

Special thanks to Sergey Sensei not only for his helpful scientific discussions, but also being my Sensei and teaching me martial arts.

Thanks to Junko, Peter and Lorenz for technical support and advises on wood chemical analysis.

Special thanks to Thomas Moritz for the collaboration, discussions and helping me to write the last manuscript, and also to Madhavi Latha Gandla and Leif Jönsson for their collaboration.

Thanks to UPSC Poplar Transgenic Facility, UPSC Bioinformatics Platform (specially to Nico), Umeå Core Facility Electron Microscopy (UCEM) (specially to Nikki), Swedish Metabolomics Centre (to Jonas and Annika), and Protein Expertise Platform for their services and advises.

Thanks to administrative staff specially Inga-Lis at UPSC and all staff at Wallenberg greenhouse specially Jenny for all their help and support.

Many thanks to all people I met at UPSC for creating an excellent environment.

Special thanks to my friends Kemal, Ummuhan, Murat and Melis for scientific discussions and also special thanks to Diyar, Ahmet and their families for their kind friendship during the time I spent in Umeå.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife Hazal for always supporting, motivating and encouraging me. I also would like to thank to all members of both my family and Hazal's family for their kind support and being always with me.